EVALUATION OF SOME PLANT EXTRACTS AS SURFACE-ACTIVE AGENTS IN DRILLING MUD FORMULATIONS

BY

BIWOTT, TECLA CHEPTOO B.Sc., M.Sc. (MU, Kenya) G2017/PhD/ACE-CEFOR/FT/072

DEPARTMENT OF PURE AND INDUSTRIAL CHEMISTRY FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF PORT HARCOURT PORT HARCOURT, NIGERIA.

In Collaboration with World Bank Africa Centre of Excellence for Oilfield Chemicals Research, Rivers State, Nigeria

MARCH, 2020

EVALUATION OF SOME PLANT EXTRACTS AS SURFACE-ACTIVE AGENTS IN DRILLING MUD FORMULATIONS

BIWOTT, TECLA CHEPTOO B.Sc., M.Sc. (MU, Kenya) G2017/PhD/ACE-CEFOR/FT/072

A Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies, University of Port Harcourt in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph.D) in Analytical Chemistry in the Department of Pure and Industrial Chemistry, Faculty of Science, University of Port Harcourt.

NAME OF SUPERVISORS:

Prof. Onyewuchi Akaranta

Prof. Ambrose Kiprop

Dr. Oriji Boniface

MARCH, 2020

DECLARATION

I **BIWOTT, TECLA CHEPTOO** with Registration number **G2017/PhD/ACE-CEFOR/FT/072** declare that the work in this Thesis on the "**EVALUATION OF SOME PLANT EXTRACTS AS SURFACE-ACTIVE AGENTS IN DRILLING MUD FORMULATIONS**" was carried out by me; that it is my original work and that it has not been submitted wholly or in part for the award of a degree in this or any other institution.

BIWOTT, TECLA CHEPTOO

CONFIRMATION BY SUPERVISORS

PROF. ONYEWUCHI AKARANTA

PROF. AMBROSE KIPROP

DR. ORIJI BONIFACE

Date

Date

<u>4/3/2020</u> Date

Date

CERTIFICATION

UNIVERSITY OF PORT HARCOURT

SCHOOL OF GRADUATE STUDIES

EVALUATION OF SOME PLANT EXTRACTS AS SURFACE-ACTIVE AGENTS IN DRILLING MUD FORMULATIONS

BY

BIWOTT, TECLA CHEPTOO

B.Sc., **M.Sc.** (**MU**)

The Board of Examiners certifies that this Thesis is accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of the degree of Doctor of Philosophy (Ph. D) in Analytical Chemistry.

DESIGNATION	NAME	SIGNATURE	DATE
Supervisor (1)	Prof. O. Akaranta		
Supervisor (2)	Prof. A. K. Kiprop		
Supervisor (3)	Dr. B. A. Oriji		
Centre Leader	Prof. O. F. Joel		
External Examiner	Prof. P.M. Ejikeme		
Dean School of Graduate Studies	Prof. A.A Okerengwo		
Chairman Departmental Graduate			
Studies Board, Pure and Industrial			
Chemistry	Prof. I. P. Okoye		

DEDICATION

This work is dedicated to my family; George, Alvin, Ivy and Yvonne

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I thank the almighty God for His love, wisdom and good health he gave me during my Ph. D programme. Thanks to my supervisors: Prof. Onyewuchi Akaranta, Prof. Ambrose Kiprop, Dr. Boniface Oriji for their support, positive criticism, comments and valuable mentorship that they got me through my research. My progress in research has relied heavily on them. I will not forget to thank Prof. O. Joel, the Director of Africa Centre of Excellence for Oil fields chemicals Research (ACE-CEFOR) for his tireless efforts and to the World Bank for their financial assistance. I also want to thank the Department of Industrial and Production Chemistry for their support in this programme. I also thank Moi University for allowing me to pursue the Ph.D. programme. My sincere thanks go to RUFORUM who supported my program financially of which without them, I wouldn't have started it. On the same note, I would like to thank Mr. Bamidele Taiwo and the Shell Petroleum Development Company (SPDC) Production Chemistry Department team who gave me support during my laboratory work. I also acknowledge Mr. Julius Ajayi, from SPDC for his great guide support, cooperation and assistance when carrying out the experimental work. I acknowledge my husband (Mr. George Koech), for his financial and moral support to achieve my dream. Besides, I thank all my colleagues who encouraged and supported me morally. They played part in course work and research. Last but not least, I thank all people who directly or indirectly supported me.

ABSTRACT

This research was aimed at: evaluating physicochemical properties of *Carica papava* -PL, Vernonia amygdalina - BL, Terminalia mantaly - TL and Moringa oleifera – ML; establishing rheological properties of the drilling mud formulated with the plant leaves; evaluating thermal stability between 30 - 93°C and fluid loss control ability. From standard experimental procedures, BL had the highest length of foam (56mL) and the longest vanishing time (89.33minutes). ML had the least foam length (10mL) and the least time (28.33minutes). Qualitatively, all plants had saponins as FTIR confirmed their presence through characteristic absorptions of OH, C = O, C-H, C = C and C-O-C for glycosidic linkages. Plastic viscosity (PV) of control mud with commercial surfactant (C2) and mud with TL leaves (MTL) were stable at high temperatures of 70°C by recording 38cP and 37cP respectively. MPL gave the least PV (31cP) at 30°C. Yield point (YP) of the mud showed that the mud with PL leaves (MPL) was stable at 70°C by recording 24 1b/100ft². Mud with BL leaves (MBL) had good gel strengths at 10 seconds and 10 minutes by recording 5 and 31.11b/100ft² respectively. Fluid loss decreased by 72% for mud with ML leaves (MML) and MTL mud. Test mud was more stable thermally compared to control sample: MBL PV was 31cP at 93°C, MPL recorded YP of (16 1b/100ft²) at 93°C, gel strengths of mud with plant leaves showed flat gel (4 -7.2 1b/100ft²) at all aging temperatures while control mud had progressive gel strength (26-56 1b/100ft²) with increase in aging temperatures. MML and MTL had good filtration control properties by losing 5mL of the filtrate. The selected plants improved mud properties which could be attributed to the presence of surface-active compound(s) in the extracts, hence it can be used as mud additive once toxicity test and overall cost benefits are done.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

Declar	ation	ii
Dedication		iv
Ackno	owledgment	v
Abstra	ict	vi
List of	tables	xii
List of	figures	xiii
List of	plates	XV
List of	abbreviations	xvi
СНАР	PTER ONE : INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Background to the study	1
1.2	Statement of the problem	3
1.3.	Aim and objectives	4
1.4	Significance of the study	5
1.5	Scope of the study	5
CHAP	PTER TWO : LITEREATURE REVIEW	6
2.1	Background	6
2.2	Drilling mud	7
2.3	Types of drilling muds	8
2.3.1.	Oil based mud (OBM)	9
2.3.2	Synthesized drilling mud (SDM)	9
2.3.3	Emulsion drilling mud (EDM)	9
2.3.4	Invert emulsion drilling mud (IEDM)	10
2.3.4	Air drilling mud (ADM)	10

2.3.5	Water-based mud (WBM)	10
2.4	Properties of drilling mud	10
2.4.1	Density	11
2.4.2	Velocity	12
2.4.3	Viscosity	12
2.4.4	Plastic viscosity	12
2.4.5	Apparent viscosity	13
2.4.6	Shear rate	13
2.4.7	Filtration loss	13
2.4.8	Mud cake	14
2.4.9	pH	14
2.5	Water based drilling mud additives	14
2.5.1	Barite	15
2.5.2	Bentonite	16
2.5.3	Hydro Poly Anionic Cellulose LV /HV	16
2.5.4	Caustic soda	17
2.5.5	Potassium chloride	17
2.5.6	Xantum gum	17
2.6	Use of plants to improve water based drilling mud properties	17
2.7	Importance of surface-active agents in drilling fluid	21
2.8.	Selected plants in the study	21
2.8.1	<i>Carica papaya</i> (Paw paw)	21
2.8.2	Veronia amygdalina (Bitter leaf)	25
2.8.3	Terminalia mantaly (Madagascar almond)	28

2.8.4	Moringa oleifera (Moringa)	32
2.9	Surface-active compounds from plants in drilling mud formulation	
CHAI	PTER THREE : MATERIALS AND METHODS	38
3.1	Materials	38
3.2	Methods	38
3.2.1	Sample collection, identification, and preparation	38
3.2.2	pH of the plant sample	39
3.2.3	Extraction of plant material	39
3.3	Characterization of extracts	39
3. 3.1	Phytochemical screening	39
3.3.2	FTIR characterization	40
3.4	Formulation of water-based mud	40
3.4.1	Formulation of standard water-based muds (Control mud)	40
3.4.2	Formulation of water-based mud using plant extracts	40
3.5	Characterization of drilling muds	42
3.5.1	Mud weight	42
3.5.2	pH of the formulated mud	42
3.5.3	Rheological properties	42
3.5.3.1	Plastic viscosity and yield point	42
3.5.3.2	2 Gel strength	43
3.5.4	Effect of temperature (Aging)	43
3.5.5	Filtration loss	44
3.5.6	Filter Cake	44
3.6.	Data analysis	44

СНАР	CHAPTER FOUR: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION 45	
4.1	Results	45
4.1.1	Sample collection and preparation	44
4. 1. 2	Physicochemical characterization	47
4.1.3	Spectroscopic studies	51
4.1.4	Drilling mud properties	68
4.1.4.1	pH and mud weight	68
4.1.4.2	Mud rheology	70
4.1.4.3	Filtration loss and the filter cake	75
4.1.5	Thermal stability test	77
4.1.5.1	pH and mud weight	71
4.1.5.2	Rheological properties after aging	79
4.1.5.3	3 Filtration loss and mud cake	75
4.2.	Discussion of results	83
4.2.2	Phytochemical screening	83
4.2.3	Spectroscopic characterization	84
4.2.3.1	FT-IR for <i>Carica papaya</i> leaves	84
4.2.3.2	FT-IR for Moringa oleifera leaves	86
4.2.3.3	FT-IR for Terminalia mantaly leaves	86
4.2.3.4	FT-IR for Veronia amygdalina leaves	87
4.2.4	pH	89
4.2.5	Drilling mud properties	90
4.2.5.1	pH of the drilling mud	90
4.2.5.2	Rheological properties of the drilling mud	90

4.2.5.2.1	Plastic viscosity (PV)	92
4.2.5.2.2	Yield point (YP)	93
4.2.5.2.3	Gel strength	95
4.2.5.2.4	Filtration loss	96
4.2.6	Thermal stability test	97
4.2.6 .1	Effects of aging on yield point and plastic viscosity of the muds.	97
4.2.6.3	Effect of aging on fluid loss and mud cake	100
CHAPTER FIVE: SUMMARY, CONCLUSION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS		102
5.1	Summary	102
5.2	Conclusion	104
5.3	Recommendations	105
5.4	Contribution to knowledge	105
References		106
Appendices		90

LIST OF TABLES

3.1:	Drilling mud formulations	41
4.1:	Plants name and labels used in the research.	46
4.2:	Foam forming ability and pH of the plant leaves	48
4.3:	Qualitative test for saponins with different crude extracts	50
4.8:	pH of the mud	69
4.9:	Mud weight	69
4.10:	Mud Rheology of MTL different concentration and different temperatures*	71
4.11:	Mud Rheology of MBL with different concentration and different temperatures	72
4.12:	Mud Rheology of MML with different concentration at different temperatures	73
4.13:	Mud Rheology of PML different concentration and different temperatures	74
4.14:	Mud Rheology of mud samples of 2% concentration of the plant sample taken	n at
	49°C after aging at different temperatures.	80
4.14:	API Recommended values for plastic viscosity (PV), yield point (YP) and gel stren	gth

91

LIST OF FIGURES

2.1:	Some of the compounds found in the leaves of C. papaya	23
2.2:	Some of the compounds found in leaves of <i>V. amygdalina</i> plant	28
2.3:	Some of the compounds that have been identified in the leaves of <i>T. mantaly</i>	31
2.4:	Compounds found in the leaves of <i>M. oleifera</i>	35
4.1:	FT-IR spectrum for PL powder	50
4.2:	FT-IR spectrum for PL from hexane extract	53
4.3:	FT-IR spectrum for PL from chloroform extract	54
4.4:	FT-IR spectrum for PL from methanol extract	55
4.5:	FT-IR spectrum for ML powder	56
4.6:	FT-IR spectrum for ML from hexane extract	57
4.7:	FT-IR spectrum for ML from chloroform extract	58
4.8:	FT-IR spectrum for ML from methanol extract	59
4.9:	FT-IR spectrum for TL powder	60
4.10:	FT-IR spectrum for TL from hexane extract	61
4.11:	FT-IR spectrum for TL from chloroform extract	62
4.12:	FT-IR spectrum for TL from methanol extract	63

4.13	FT-IR spectrum for BL powder	62
4.14	FT-IR spectrum for BL from hexane extract	63
4.15	FT-IR spectrum for BL from chloroform extract	64
4.16	FT-IR spectrum for BL from methanol extract	65
4.17:	Effect of temperature and concentration on filtration loss	76
4.18:	Effect of temperature and concentration on filter cake	76
4.19:	pH of the mud after aging at different temperatures.	78
4.20:	Effect of aging on mud weight	78
4.21:	Effect of temperature on the fluid loss of the mud	76
4. 22:	Mud cake after aging at different temperatures	76

LIST OF PLATES

2.1:	Carica papaya (pawpaw) plant	22
2.2: (a)	Veronia amygdalina young leaves	26
2.2: (b)	Veronia amygdalina old plant	26
2.3: (a)	Terminalia mantaly used to beautify a place	29
2.3: (b)	Terminalia mantaly leaves	29
2.4:	Moringa oleifera plant pictures	32

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

ADM	Air drilling mud
API	American Petroleum Institute
BL	Veronia amygdalina leaves
EDM	Emulsion drilling mud
FT-IR	Fourier transform infrared
HV	High Viscosity
IEDM	Invert emulsion drilling mud
LV	Low viscosity
MBL	Drilling mud with Veronia amygdalina leaves
ML	Moringa oleifera leaves
MML	Drilling mud with Moringa oleifera leaves
MPL	Drilling mud with Carica papaya leaves
MTL	Drilling mud with Terminalia mantaly leaves
OBM	Oil-based mud
PL	Carica papaya leaves
Ppg	pounds per gallon
PV	Plastic viscosity
RPM	Rotation per minute
SBM	Synthetic based mud
SDM	Synthesized drilling mud
TL	Terminalia mantaly leaves
WBM	Water-based mud
YP	Yield point

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background to the study

An increase in demand for crude oil as an energy source has been steered by the rise in population and industrialization which is steady. Consequently, the urge to increase oil production through well-drilling enhanced oil recovery has gone up (Abduo *et al.*, 2016). Well-drilling operations are faced with many challenges such as damaging effects on rheological properties of the drilling mud in extreme conditions like high temperatures and high pressures (HTHP). These challenges have occasioned continuous demands in fluids development with specific physical, chemical and rheological properties (He *et al.*, 2016). For the desired properties of drilling muds to be achieved, all the additives to be introduced must give the drilling mud outstanding properties (rheology, gel strength, viscosity, and filtration properties) (Dardir *et al.*, 2017). In oil production industry, drilling mud is among the main fluid used in well-drilling which helps to suspend and release well cuttings, add power to the bit, seal permeable formations, maintain wellbore stability, reduce damage in the formation, cool and lubricate the drilling bit and bottom hole assembly (Fereydouni *et al.*, 2012)

Among additives of the drilling mud are surfactants that play very important roles such as; corrosion preventers, deformers, dispersants, and wetting agents. Surfactants are also used as shale swelling inhibitors to prevent wellbore instabilities and also prevent cuttings from sticking to drill bit (Galindo *et al.*, 2015). Surfactants are utilized in the production of high gas/water ratio (HGWR) foam in drilling fluids to generate low-pressure reservoirs and hard rock drilling. Also, surfactants used to eliminate undesirable foam in water-based

fluids (Ghosh and Mohanty, 2019). Most of the surface-active agents used in drilling mud formulation are synthesized, giving rise to high cost in overall oil production. Besides, some synthesized surface-active agents are highly toxic and environmentally unfriendly. Naturally occurring surfactants are less toxic and eco- friendly hence find use in petroleum, agricultural, medical and cosmetics industry since they are biodegradable, have better physiological properties and are relatively readily available (Khan and Butt, 2016).

Synthesized surfactants and other drilling mud additives can lead to environmental risk in various ways e.g. contamination of soil, marine environment and effects on human life (Negm *et al.*, 2015). To reduce environmental challenges associated with drilling mud additives used for oil production, it is paramount to balance its performance while retaining its properties (Hossain and Islam, 2018). The environmental concern and high cost of synthesized or conventional mud additives have led to the search for safer and cheaper additives from natural products e.g. plants. This is because plants possess the ability to produce an almost limitless array of substances that are environmentally friendly, economically feasible and easy to use (Mohammadinejad *et al.*, 2019).

The drilling process can be upgraded by the use of drilling mud with appropriate additives. Three major types of drilling muds are; water-based drilling mud (WBM), oil-based drilling mud (OBM), and synthetic-based drilling mud (SBM) (Epikhin *et al.*, 2015). Drilling mud type is important because it is chosen depending on the behavior of the formation which is to be drilled (Al-Yasiri and Al-Sallami, 2015). Water-based drilling mud has advantages of higher shear thinning, high yield strength, have better bit hydraulics, reduces pressure losses in circulation compared to other mud systems and it increases borehole steadiness too (Elkatatny, 2019).

In WBM, the major component is water and other ingredients are considered as additives and they have various functions like viscosifiers, fluid loss controllers, corrosion inhibitors and weighting agents (Samavati *et al.*, 2014).

Plant derivatives have gained much interest since they have versatile uses such as bioresources for the invention of drugs (Farhat, 2018). Studies have been carried out on drilling mud formulations using various mud additives. It is necessary to carry out studies on the effects of plant constituents on the properties of WBM (Ahmad *et al.*, 2018) which not much have been done on them.

Viability of some plant extracts needs to be tested for use as drilling mud additives to produce drilling mud additives that have the capacity for improving performance, sustainable and affordable.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Drilling mud with enhanced mud properties are essential to optimize the performance of oil well drilling. For ideal drilling mud to be formulated, mud additives have to be chosen considerably. Among the factors considered in proper drilling mud, the selection is drilling performance, expected well conditions, mud cutting disposals and personnel safety. Some of the properties to be improved in drilling fluid are rheological properties, pH, mud weight, fluid loss, and thermal stability. Mostly, surface-active agents used are synthesized and pose a negative impact on the environment. These negative impact leads to the death of flora and fauna and thus poses a threat to biodiversity and sustainable development. Plants are acknowledged to have many metabolites that can be utilized in chemical industries. However, the drilling mud has to be improved because it is facing the following challenges:

- Conventional mud additives in drilling mud can be toxic and expensive hence there is need to search for locally available materials which would be affordable and non-toxic and help actualize local content.
- When drilling into deeper formation, drilling mud has to endure elevated pressures and temperatures. Temperature and pressure influence on the properties of drilling mud is uncertain and leads to difficult challenges and mechanical concerns.
- Surface-active agents have found a major part in the industry of petroleum as additives in drilling mud where they play a part as corrosive preventers, deformers, and dispersants, wetting agents and also they are used to improve the properties of the drilling mud. It is good to test the capability of surface active agents to improve the rheology of the mud.

1.3. Aim and objectives

The study aimed at evaluating some plant extracts as surface-active agents in drilling mud formulations that are safer, eco-friendly and sustainable.

The specific objectives of this study were to:

- 1. Determine the physicochemical properties of powdered leaves of the selected plants (*Carica papaya, Vernonia amygdalina, Terminalia mantaly,* and *Moringa oleifera*),
- 2. Establish the rheological properties of the drilling mud formulated with the selected plants,
- 3. Evaluate the thermal stability of the formulated drilling mud at different temperatures (30°C- 93°C)
- 4. Investigate the fluid loss of the formulated drilling mud.

1.4 Significance of the study

- 1. This research has the capability of steering the production of *Carica papaya*, *Vernonia amygdalina*, *Terminalia mantaly*, and *Moringa oleifera*, hence making it accessible for use in the petroleum industry and will result to economic base for local farmers which will result to economic sustainability.
- 2. The use of locally available materials will help in actualizing the local content policy in the oil and gas business regarding local raw materials utilization leading to sustainable growth in the oil and gas production.
- 3. With the minimal treatment of cuttings from drilling process, and reduced cost of importation of surface-active agent materials, leading to overall reduction of cost in production of oil and gas.

1.5 Scope of the study

The study applied leaves from four different plants, namely: *Carica papaya* (pawpaw), *Vernonia amygdalina* (bitter leaf), *Terminalia mantly* (Madagascar almond) and *Moringa oleifera* (Moringa). The physicochemical and properties of the formulated drilling mud were investigated. Crude extracts from the selected plants were characterized using FT-IR.

CHAPTER TWO

LITEREATURE REVIEW

2.1 Background

Africa has been undergoing trade and industrial growth since 2000 and this has resulted to the rise in energy consumption by 45%. Main aim of African countries is to manage the growing energy demand of its population and ensuring that there is collective way in to recent energy services in respect to the environment (Nadia, 2017). Energy accesses are fundamental to development and as trade and industry advance, incomes and growth in populations require more energy. Sustainable Development aims at obtaining accessibility to affordable, reliable, sustainable and modern energy hence require an increase to electricity accessibility and the take up of clean fuels (Shonali *et al.*, 2013).

Lasting forecast of energy supply and demand is most important in Africa due to the stable increase in energy requirements (Spalding-Fecher *et al.*, 2017). There is decline in availability of adequate resources, soaring dependence on fossil- fuels to meet the necessities, and the universal concerns over energy induced environmental issues (Jefferson, 2016).

Natural gas and oil are the leading source of the world's energy. Its consumption is more due to maintenance of present high living standard and most of this energy comes due to the technology of oil production. Current industrial activities consume huge amounts of energy to catch up with high demand and among societies' concerns is the accessibility of abundant and relatively cheap source of oil (Al-Maamary *et al.*, 2017).

The extent of field expansion cannot be overemphasized, mostly in the perspective of fullgrown petroleum provinces due to decline in domestic production and increase in importation (Hoffmann *et al.*, 2015). Field growth is increasing in existing fields through time because of many factors including enhanced oil recovery, discovery of new pools or extensions of known pools. Also, there is improvement of reservoir characterization and development of more sophisticated and efficient reservoir simulators and data processing capabilities (Anifowose *et al.*, 2016). Global average recovery factor for oil field is within 40% hence large amount of oil identified which was left despite an existing production infrastructure (Jafarnezhad *et al.*, 2017).

2.2 Drilling mud

Drilling mud usage is part of drilling procedure and there are varieties of chemicals used in designing a drilling mud system so as to meet its purpose like improved mud rheology, good density, and fluid loss control property (Yunita *et al.*, 2015). In the process of searching these mud properties, preservation of environment is a global concern and many organizations are advised to use nontoxic drilling mud additives. Environment pollution is a serious hazard while drilling wells that are complex with high temperatures. These complex wells are managed incorporating high performance water based mud and oil based mud which use many chemicals to produce the desired mud properties (Haddad *et al.*, 2017).

Drilling mud is mainly designed to reduce damage effect of reservoir rock and ensure that drilling into the formation is successful and economical (Majid *et al.*, 2019). Drilling muds are also made to generate a filter cake that decreases the filtration loss into the formation, and less thick in order to hold the drilling mud within the wellbore (Agwu and Akpabio, 2018). In drilling process, mud is passed through the drilling bit, taken back to the surface by passing through the annular passage in amid the drill stem and well's wall (Perry *et al.*,

2019). To control viscosity, gel strength, filtration loss and yield point, mud additives are used (Zha and Zhou, 2019). Mostly, drilling mud should comply with key requirements like, easy to use, inexpensive and environmentally friendly (Hossain and Apaleke, 2015). Additives in drilling fluid can undergo degradation that can lead to fluid loss resulting to problem in real-time drilling (Pakdaman *et al.*, 2019). Biocides used in drilling mud can threaten the environment and could cause harm if not handled properly (Pakdaman *et al.*, 2019). Some studies found out that cationic surfactant (CTAB) used with sorbitan monooleate can be used to control fluid loss for preventing the fluid movement into the porous pristine formation and it can avoid the collapse of well wall in oil-drilling excavation (Shettigar *et al.*, 2018).

Surfactants could decrease the friction factor without help of the wetting materials used and formulation has higher performance in coefficient of friction than diesel –based formulation without affecting the rheology of the mud (Song *et al.*, 2016). For the drilling mud to be effective, there must be three conditions present; a permeable medium, liquid and liquid/solid slurry fluid (Talukdar *et al.*, 2018). Drilling mud performance is mainly affected by drilling fluid density, drilling fluid viscosity, drilling mud pH and gel strength (Avci and Mert, 2019).

2.3 Types of drilling muds

Drilling mud is selected for specific role and it must have favorable properties for the intended purpose. A drilling mud task is guided by its rheological properties and is carefully chosen according to the type of formation to be drilled, range of temperatures and strength, permeability and pore fluids pressure exhibited by the formation (Song *et al.*,

2016). In addition, drilling mud can be chosen according to safety and logistics, productions concerns, environmental impact and overall well cost. The drilling muds are chosen depending on the drilling conditions faced in the field and are categorized based on the continuous phase they are using (Wagle *et al.*, 2016).

2.3.1. Oil based mud (OBM)

Oil based mud uses oil as its continuous phase and mostly used when WBM is considered insufficient. Generally they are composed as reverse – emulsion of brine in a continuous oil phase which is stabilized by surfactants (Ma *et al.*, 2018). However, OBM are among the least used drilling mud because of its costly nature, though they do give better results when used (Shahmirzaee *et al.*, 2019).

2.3.2 Synthesized drilling mud (SDM)

Synthesized drilling mud is similar as oil based drilling mud but less destructive to the environment. It is composed of esters, olefins and occasionally paraffin. It has been identified to have low kinetic viscosity and could work under low pressures (Ma *et al.*, 2019).

2.3.3 Emulsion drilling mud (EDM)

Emulsion drilling mud has emulsion based phases. It has two phases, the outer and inner phases. Outer phase has water while the inner phase is made of oil (Tan *et al.*, 2015). Surfactants are mostly used to enable the two phases to be miscible because of the opposite emulsion effect. They are cheap and eco-friendly when compared with OBM, but costly when compared with WBM (Olaitan *et al.*, 2017).

2.3.4 Invert emulsion drilling mud (IEDM)

It resembles EDM in all aspects but dissimilar in how phase is being distributed. It is an inverse form of EDM and it has two phases but the outer one has oil while the inner one has salt water. It can be degraded faster by micro-organism, has light viscosity and it suits high temperature environment (Ihenacho, 2016).

2.3.4 Air drilling mud (ADM)

Air drilling mud is mainly aerosols and is utilized mostly for underbalanced pressure drilling where there is no water or oil in the reservoir. It is advantageous in that it has little formation damage, zero circulation loss, less contaminated and high penetration rate (Zhu *et al.*, 2015).

2.3.5 Water-based mud (WBM)

Water-based mud uses water as its continuous phase. The composition of water-based mud comprises mostly of clay, brine, and polymers (Negm *et al.*, 2015). It is one of the prime drilling fluid used since it is advantageous because it has high shear thinning, good bit hydraulic, high true yield and reduced circulating pressure losses. Also, known to improve borehole stability (Galindo *et al.*, 2015). This research used water-based mud formulations in the study.

2.4 Properties of drilling mud

It is significant to monitor and maintain the rheological properties and other parameters of drilling mud because failure to monitor can lead to financial and time loss and occasionally it can result in abandonment of the well (Rakshith *et al.*, 2017).

2.4.1 Density

The drilling mud density is defined as mass per unit volume of drilling mud and it is presented as parts per gallon (ppg) (Fattah and Lashin, 2016). The density of the drilling mud must match the density necessary to check formation pressure without fracturing or damaging the formation (Ahmadi *et al.*, 2018). Encountered problems in rotary drilling are associated with drilling mud weight. Mud weight is among the foremost parameter to consider during drilling mud formulation (Ahmed *et al.*, 2018). Drilling mud's densities decrease with rising temperature. The capability of the drilling mud to suspend the drill cuttings determines the impact of hole cleaning (Ebikapaye, 2018), thus needs attention. Mud weight (density), controls the pressure in the formation and help wellbore stability. Less mud density will result in underbalanced conditions, so any formation of fluids – gas, water, and oil will enter into the wellbore. Mud weight provides pressure to the hole backformation, hence less mud weight may result to collapse of the wellbore (Feng *et al.*, 2016). Drilling mud density should match the estimated density necessary to check formation pressure without fracturing or damaging the formation (Lambert *et al.*, 2018).

High mud density can lead to lost circulation (Hosseini, 2017) caused by hydrostatic pressure from the mud column which exceeds the formation strength hence causing the formation to break (Feng *et al.*, 2016). Once the formation is cracked, drilling fluids will be lost into the induced formation fractures. Heavier drilling mud densities will lead to a slower penetration rate (ROP) and mitigate well control (Al-Sabagh *et al.*, 2016). High mud weight can cause differentially stuck pipe since there are changes between formation pressure and hydrostatic pressure, the chances that a drill string will get differentially stuck across the permeable rocks will be high (Ebikapaye, 2018).

Formation damage can occur if more mud weight is present in the well because more mud filtration will invade into porous formations (Feng and Gray, 2017). The invaded mud will cause damage to formation of rocks. Drilling in exhausted reservoirs are challenged by many issues, like formation damage due to increase of pressure, differential sticking in the wellbore and different pressure zone among others. The mud weight is of essence in such zones (Olise *et al.*, 2017).

2.4.2 Velocity

The pump rate must be kept low to maintain laminar flow, but not slow as to jeopardize efficient cutting removals; Critical velocity can be obtained from mud density, viscosity, speed and size of the annulus (Roustaei *et al.*, 2015).

2.4.3 Viscosity

Viscosity of drilling mud is its resistance to flow. In drilling fluid, the desired viscosity is affected by many factors including mud density, hole size, drilling rate, pumping rate and hold problems (Al-Mahdawi and Saad, 2018). Viscosity measured by an instrument is valid for the sheer rate at that specific time and shall not be the same when measured as a different rate of sheer (Azar, 2015). Viscosity is measured by many methods that include; marsh funnel, Fann V-G meter and rotational multi-speed instrument as a standard for plastic viscosity, gel strength and yield point. Increase in fluid viscosity increases amount of cuttings transport capability (Werner *et al.*, 2017).

2. 4.4 Plastic viscosity

Drilling fluid resistance to flow is termed as plastic viscosity which indicates the extent of physical and chemical relations between solids and fluid particles that are applied into the drilling mud (Ghahfarokhi *et al.*, 2015). A low plastic viscosity implies that the mud has

the ability of drilling rapidly since the low viscosity leaving the bit (Bloys *et al.*, 1994). High plastic viscosity is caused by a viscous fluid and by excess colloid solids (Prince *et al.*, 2019). Any increment of solid content in drilling mud like barite and fluid loss materials results in higher plastic viscosity (Zhuang *et al.*, 2015). The occurrence of shale particles in drilling mud system when drilling shale zone can increase plastic viscosity too. High plastic viscosity generates higher resistance in mud hence will affect cutting lifting performance (CLP) (Yunita *et al.*, 2015).

2.4.5 Apparent viscosity

Viscosity of a fluid that is displayed in an instrument at a particular shear rate and is a function of Bingham properties of yield point plastic and viscosity is called apparent viscosity (Elkatatny *et al.*, 2018). It also shows the association between shear stress and shear rate (Christensen, 2017).

2.4.6 Shear rate

Shear rate is the gradient velocity measured across the diameter of a fluid –flow channel, annulus or shape (Patel *et al.*, 2017). It imitates the rate of alteration of velocity at which one layer of fluid passes over an adjacent layer. The velocity gradient is the degree of change of velocity with distance from the plates (Fakoya and Ahmed, 2018).

2.4.7 Filtration loss

Filtration of drilling fluid is its liquid phase being forced into a permeable formation by differential pressure (Patel *et al.*, 2017). It is the amount of filtrate (free water) passing from the drilling mud into a porous permeable formation. In this process, solid particles are filtered out and in the process, form a filter cake (Ezeakacha *et al.*, 2017).

2.4.8 Mud cake

A layer of particles formed by drilling mud as it exerts pressure on the wall of the wellbore is called mud cake. It provides a physical barrier that prevents further loss of the drilling mud (Ezeakacha *et al.*, 2017). While drilling, the hydraulic head exerts some pressure into the fluid and some filtrate separates and form a filter cake on wellbore hence stabilizing the wellbore. Drilling mud should create a thin filter cake on the walls of the borehole. Low filtration loss is a characteristic of good drilling mud and the key bore hole integrity (Al-Ajmi *et al.*, 2018).

2.4.9 pH

pH of the drilling mud is the acidity or alkalinity of the mud (Inemugha *et al.*, 2019). Drilling mud's pH should be maintained between 8 and 9 (Sulaimon *et al.*, 2017). When pH is lower (acidic), soda ash may be used to raise its pH level. Lower or high pH of drilling mud will lead to more use of additives hence making it costly (Alkamil *et al.*, 2018).

2.5 Water based drilling mud additives

Water based mud has a mixture of solids, chemicals and liquids where water is a continuous phase. The solids can be inactive or active in the mud. Solids that are hydrophilic like clay that is hydratable, can result to reaction with water phase and in the process dissolve the chemicals rendering the mud viscous (Negm *et al.*, 2015). The inert hydrophobic solids like sand or shale, are unreactive in water and other compounds and differ in specific gravity hence hinder the examination of solids in the drilling mud because they produce undesirable effects (Kania *et al.*, 2015). In WBM, many additives are used currently and they include; polymers, clays, weighting agents, fluid loss agent, lost-circulation materials,

thinners, dispersants, inorganic chemicals, and surface-active agents (Gogoi and Tamuli, 2019).

Surface-active agents are used commonly in petroleum industry as additive in water based mud so as to alter colloidal form of the clay from spreading to one controlled flocculation (Negm *et al.*, 2015). Surface-active agents can be anionic or cationic and can act as fluid emulsifiers, dispersants, wetting agents, foamers and defoarmers. Surface-active agents are also used to decrease the hydration of the clay surface. Structural groups of the molecules affects the surfactant's behavior (Rieger, 2017). The additives that are mainly used in water based mud are: Barite, Bentonite, Hydro PAC, Caustic soda, potassium chloride and xantum gum.

2.5.1 Barite

This is a naturally occurring rock and it is used to increase density of water and oil based drilling mud (Ibrahim *et al.*, 2017). When mud density is increased, there is increase in rate of penetration (ROP), however, too high density leads to differential sticking of the drill string (Hilfiger *et al.*, 2017). Barite is insoluble and inert chemically and a dense mineral containing barium sulphate (BaSO₄) hence widely used as weighting agent. It has specific gravity between 4.20 - 4.40 g/cm³ which is capable of meeting API recommends mud densities to be between 9 to 19 lbm/gal (Abdou *et al.*, 2018). Siderite, hematite, calcium carbonate, ilmetite and galena are also used in the industry as weighting agent (Martel *et al.*, 2018) depending on the type of the formation.

2.5.2 Bentonite

Bentonite clay is among the additives used as a fluid loss control and mud viscosifier in drilling mud (Needaa *et al.*, 2016). Bentonite has been used in petroleum industry since 1929 (Choudhary *et al.*, 2018). Bentonite is composed of smectite and contains less than 85% of clay mineral mentmorillonite. Bentonite is mostly classified as calcium bentonite or sodium bentonite (Oriji *et al.*, 2014), based on the main exchangeable cation present.

For fluid loss control, some clays, dispersants and polymers are extensively used. Bentonite (montmorillonite) is used as the primary fluid loss-control additive in water based fluids. It has a very thin and sheet like particles with large surface area that are able to produce a flexible filter cake. The drilling mud systems that are inhibitive obstruct the hydration of bentonite which can reduce its efficiency (Shadizadeh *et al.*, 2015). It is important to prehydrate bentonite in clean water before mixing it with other additives (Oriji *et al.*, 2014).

2.5.3 Hydro Poly Anionic Cellulose LV /HV

Hydro PAC major use is as fluid loss control material and viscosifier. Thinners or dispersants serve the function of controlling fluid loss and decreasing filter cake thickness. Sometimes, dispersants act as fluid loss regulator by bridging small pores in the filter cake (Al Yami *et al.*, 2017). In drilling well operations, circulation may be lost through permeable sandstones, induced or natural formation fractures which are generally induced by excessive drilling –fluid pressures (Feng *et al.*, 2016) and in this way, there is absence of mud returning to the surface after it has been driven down a well (Scrivener *et al.*, 2018). To control the lost circulations, most chemicals used include fibrous materials like wood, cotton and mineral fiber (Liu *et al.*, 2018).

2.5.4 Caustic soda

Caustic soda in water based mud produces hydroxyl ion that control pH. Caustic soda is a strong base and its extreme solubility in water gives rise to Na^+ and OH^- in solution. Conversely, its corrosive nature makes it one of the hazardous chemical to the handlers (Gokul *et al.*, 2017).

2.5. 5 Potassium chloride

Potassium chloride in drilling mud provide potassium ions that stabilizes shales and control the swelling of clays (Aziz *et al.*, 2018).

2. 5.6 Xantum gum

Xantum gum is used predominantly in petroleum industries to accelerate the viscosity of the aqueous based drilling mud. Xantum gum is good in high temperatures, salinity makes xantum polymer the most used as a viscosifying material in drilling mud formulations(Talukdar *et al.*, 2018).

2.6 Use of plants to improve water based drilling mud properties

A lot of research efforts have been directed to formulating water based mud with mud additives aimed to handle problems associated with them. Substances originating from plants have handy application thus are very important. Since they are bio-based source, plants have found use in drug industry as well as variety of chemical development (Lee *et al.*, 2019).

Grass which is usually a fodder crop was used to formulate drilling mud (Hossain and Wajheeuddin, 2016). The mud formulated was of three different concentrations and varied particle sizes. Their investigation revealed that varied particle sizes and concentration of

dried and grounded grass, when added to bentonite, improved rheological properties of the drilling fluid. They further gathered that the fluid was enhanced when grass was used because of the reduction of filtration loss. Their observations recommend using grass to control pH and filtration loss and also as rheological modifier to substitute toxic materials from drilling fluids. However the research did not test thermal stability of the water based mud formulated with grass.

In a study, it was found out that fluid loss reduced by 49.5% when rice husks and plantain peals were in cooperated to the drilling fluid, this was better than the standard mud additives, while filter cake increased by 38.9%. The rheological properties of the mud also increased. The results also showed that at 75g, plantain peeling concentration, the apparent and plastic viscosities increased by 11.3% and 16.1% respectively. The yield point reduced by 5.66%. From their results, it is evident that the use of plantain peelings and rice husks improves rheology and can be filtration control additives at substantial concentration. The research recommended establishing thermal stability of rice husks as a filtration control additive in dynamic conditions in WBM and OBM (Seteyeobot *et al.*, 2017).

The research on cassava brought forth the conclusion that cassava starch is good at advancing the rheological properties of water-based mud with an optimum concentration of 4% (Omotioma *et al.*, 2015).

Another research was also done and it was found out that extracts from mango and cashew nut leaves improved rheological properties in water-based mud. This is because it showed suitable results as mud additives. When the two plants are compared, mango leave extracts had higher improvement than cashew nut leave extracts (Oko *et al.*, 2015).

Dadge and Nmegbu (2014), on the other hand in his findings stated that cellulose from ground nuts shells could do better than polyanionic cellulose (PAC) when used to formulate the drilling mud. The results concluded that mud density and specific gravity of that mud were higher compared to that of standard mud. From the results the cellulose from ground nuts husk considerably reduce fluid loss hence it can be used as an agent for fluid loss control (Nmegbu and Bekee, 2014).

A study using corn cobs and coconut shell in drilling mud formulations. The additives were in varied concentrations. They compared the mud containing corn cobs and the one containing coconut shell separately then mixed one corn cobs with coconut shell. The result showed that the mixture of coconut shell and corn cobs reduced filtration loss volume than the ones that were done separately. They also found out that corn cobs have better fluid loss control when compared to coconut shell (Student, 2017).

A study on lemon grass conducted found out that lemon grass performs as a good fluid loss control agent in oil-based mud. The filter cake obtained ranged between 2-25mm which is a requirement by API. Another finding was that 150 microns is a good size of lemon grass and therefore recommended its use in place of commercialized fluid control agent (Ghazali *et al.*, 2018)..

Majority of these studies choose their plant based mud additives based on their constituents that could enable the drilling mud to function better compared to the standard muds. For example, rice husks have 20% opaline silica and lignin. Combination of silica and lignin makes rice husks to be impervious to water and fungal penetration and also protects it from
thermal decomposition (Khaleghian *et al.*, 2017). Rice husks also have good compressive strength when its concentration is increased (Kassim and Yong, 2017).

Plantain peelings on the other hand contain protein, ash, lipids, starch and dietary fibre (Khoozani *et al.*, 2019). These properties makes plantain peelings good for use as a rheological control and as a fluid loss control additive (Seteyeobot *et al.*, 2017). Amylose is a component of starch and it controls the gelling behaviour. Amylopectin is large in size and it has branched nature which can reduce the movement of the polymer and their alignment in an aqueous environment. Starch molecules also have many hydroxyl groups which convey hydrophilic properties to the polymer giving it ability to disperse water. It is believed that these properties that made cassava to act as a filtration loss controller in drilling mud are due to the presence of hydroxyl groups (Rana *et al.*, 2019).

Studies were done on Canola, Moringa and algae seeds oils used as continuous phase of oil based mud and their results compared with diesel oil (Agwu *et al.*, 2015). Results indicated that when plot was done of dial readings against speed, they all exhibited Bingham plastic character. On pressure loss, Canola had best results and followed by Jatropha mud. Algae gave the best results on reduced friction followed by Jatropha then moringa oil based mud. Lower viscosities leads to low resistance (Parizad *et al.*, 2018) hence it implies that there will be less wear in drilling string. Filtration loss test showed that Moringa, Algae, Jatropha and Canola had better filtration properties when compared to Diesel oil based mud (Adesina *et al.*, 2018).

2.7 Importance of surface-active agents in drilling fluid

Surface-active agents are increasingly used in variety of applications in drilling fluids. It is used as emulsifiers and wetting agents in oil based mud. In water based mud, some of its many application includes; acting as an inhibitor in shale swelling, preventing wellbore uncertainties, lubricate drill bit, preventing cuttings from sticking to it and as dispersant helping the inhibition of flocculation in clay particles (Yunita *et al.*, 2015). It functions as a foaming additive to generate high gas/water ratio in reservoirs with low pressure and in drilling of hard rock. Presently, industries reduce chemical agents use and in return scientist explore natural substitute's e.g. natural surface-active agents (Tmáková *et al.*, 2016).

2.8.Selected plants in the study

2.8.1 *Carica papaya* (Paw paw)

Carica papaya belongs to family *caricaceae*. Its stem is usually weak and unbranched and crowned with long large cluster of leaves. Plate 2.1 shows *Carica papaya* (*C. papaya*) plant. The parts of various plants especially leaves have been used in treatment of diseases like malaria, dangue fever, jaundice, arthritis e.t.c. Various research have shown that the leaves of *C. papaya* have many compounds e.g. phenolic compounds, carotenoids, steroids and alkaloids. Thin layer chromatography examination revealed that leaves of *C. papaya* has polar compounds (Vij and Prashar, 2015). Agricultural activities and different climatic conditions, seasons and sites influence the content of *C. papaya* (Campostrini *et al.*, 2018). Most of these constituents exhibit efficacy against inflammations. The components of *C. papaya* leaves have demonstrated antibacterial, antitumor and immune modulatory activity. *C. papaya* leaves can be used in treatment of warts, corns, sinuses, eczema,

cutaneous tubercles, and constipation and to expel worms etc. All these effects makes *C. papaya* to be considered as neutraceutical (Vij and Prashar, 2015). Studies on different parts of pawpaw has revealed that the plant is highly nutritive and the leaf is considered orally active and non-toxic as its lethal dose is > 15g/kg body weight (Madjos and Luceño, 2019). Milk and juice of *C. papaya* leaves are extracted and used as chewing gum for digestive problems, toothpaste and tenderizers (Okunola *et al.*, 2012). Figure 2.1 shows some of the identified compounds of leaves from *C. papaya*. The leaves contain compounds such as ascorbic acid (1), carpaine (2), kaempferol-3 (3), papain (4) and tocopherol (5), amygdalin (6), halocalin (7) and prunasin (8). Papain from *C. papaya* is used in toothpaste, cosmetics and detergents. The reason why in the past leaves of *Carica papaya* were used to substitute soap could be attributed to the finding that *C. papaya* has saponins (Bisong *et al.*, 2018).



Plate 2.1: Carica papaya (pawpaw) plant



Figure 2.1: Some of the compounds found in the leaves of *C. papaya*

Papain (4) is known to hydrolyze proteins, amines and esters of amino acids moreso bonds involving the amino acids. Under prolonged incubation, bonds are divided more. Papain has esterase and transminase activity that are used in peptide synthesis (Kim, 2017). Tacopherol is a key component of vitamin E and their un-methylated carbons at position 7 and 5 act as electrophilic centers which can trap the reactive oxygen and nitrogen species (Hess, 2017). Cynogenic – glycosides are harmful to health because the cyanide hinders the cellular respiration hence oxygen cannot be available of the transportation of electron in the cytochrome (Fawole *et al.*, 2017). It is therefore good to investigate *C. papaya* activity in the drilling mud since much has not been reported on it as it can act as a source of surface-active agents (Soares *et al.*, 2018).

2.8.2 Veronia amygdalina (Bitter leaf)

Veronia amygdalina belongs to the *Asteraceae* family and it grows throughout tropical Africa. It is known of its bitter taste and it is usually processed before cooking to remove the bitterness. It is reported that bitter leaf has saponins and saponins are usually known for their bitter taste and unpleasantness (Okunlola *et al.*, 2019). Plate 2.2 is an illustration of the *V. amygdalina* plant. Leaves from bitter leaf can be used to treat constipation, jaundice, stomach disorders, cough, wounds, venereal diseases and many more. Test on plasmodium proved that it is possible to use it as anti- malarial and has spermatogenic effect (Pelser, 2018). Documentations show that it can improve sperm concentration and mortality and toxicity test has revealed that it is non-toxic at doses of 500mg/kg per day (Kanyanga *et al.*, 2018; Tijjani *et al.*, 2017). Saponins in *V. amygdalina* also helps in reducing fever and pain (Ogidi *et al.*, 2019). Some of the studies revealed that there were

twenty alkaloids, four tannins in the leaves of *V. amygdalina*. Figure 2.2 shows some of the compounds that have been identified from the leaves of *V. amygdalina*. The efficacy of *V. amygdalina* could be due to presence of tannins like tannic acid (**9**), alkaloids like crinamidine (**10**) and Lactupicrin (**11**) .(Ogidi *et al.*, 2019). It is during processing before cooking that the *V. amygdalina* produces foam and since more has been done on medicinal value, it is worth trying it in the drilling mud formulation because little has been done in it.



Plate 2.2: (a) Veronia amygdalina young leaves



Plate 2.2: (b) Veronia amygdalina old plant



Figure 2.2: Some of the compounds found in leaves of *V. amygdalina* plant

2.8.3 Terminalia mantaly (Madagascar almond)

Terminalia mantaly is one of the deciduous trees with horizontal branches, sometimes termed as an umbrella tree. Most of the leaves turn brown before dropping during the winter or sometimes before the dry season in the tropics. Plate 2.3 gives an illustration of the T. mantaly plant. Its leaves are replaced instantly when the season changes (Mbouna et al., 2018). People utilize the plant as shade or to beautify the surrounding. Because it is drought resistant, it is used mainly for reforestation especially in sandy areas (Lierop *et al.*, 2015). Its leaves drop frequently and so they provide good mulch hence leading to soil and small plant protection. As an umbrella-shaped, it looks attractive (Szwagrzyk et al., 2017). The trunk of T. mantaly acts as a source of gum and the plant parts like leaves produce tannin and dye which is used in leather preparation (Gichora *et al.*, 2017). Many findings reveal that T. mantaly has the potential to produce many secondary metabolites. Since leaves of T. mantaly falls easily, and are replaceable, they are worthy to use in the petroleum industry where not much has been done on it. Figure 2.3 shows some of the compounds that have been identified from the leaves of T. mantaly. The following are some of the compounds of T. mantaly leaves: coarjungenin (12), arnjuglucoside (13), ellagic acid (14), 3, 3' di-o methylellagic acid (15) and 2,3,24-trihydroxyolean (16) (Toghueo et al., 2017).



Plate 2.3: (a) *Terminalia mantaly* used to beautify a place



Plate 2.3: (b) *Terminalia mantaly* leaves



Figure 2.3: Some of the compounds that have been identified in the leaves of *T*. *mantaly*

2.8.4 Moringa oleifera (Moringa)

Moringa oleifera is a drought-resistant plant growing mostly in the tropical and subtropical areas and it is widely known for its medicinal values. Figure 2.7 shows the *M. oleifera* plant. *M. oleifera* leaves are the most nutritious unlike other parts of the plant. The leaves are known to have vitamins (B, C, A and K), beta carotene as well as proteins. The leaves are crushed and cooked with soups (Dhimmar *et al.*, 2015) and used in Africa to fight malnutrition. It is also used to treat degenerative diseases like cancer, asthma, and rheumatism (Padayachee and Baijnath, 2019). Other diseases that *M. oleifera* treats are epilepsy, parasitic infections, fungal and bacterial infections. Apart from these uses as medicine, *M. oleifera* powder is used for hand wash as a soap and as an antiseptic. Its seeds are known to have oil (Rashid *et al.*, 2008), which is utilized to cook food, hair care products and as machine lubricant (Ramasubramania *et al.*, 2016).

The *M. oleifera* tree is usually cut yearly to about one meter and allowed to regrow. Studies show that *M. oleifera* is rich in nutrients, anti-oxidants and can cure many diseases since it contains the majority of vitamins found in fruits and vegetables. *M. oleifera* is considered the most important plant e.g. it can be used as a vegetable, medicine, food security, sustaining land care and nurturing rural development (Martin, 2007).

Figure 2.4 shows some identified compounds from the leaves of *M. oleifera*. Among major compounds found in *M. oleifera* are Beta- 1- amnofuranoside (**17**), cyclopentatriol (**18**), 3,4- dichlorobenzonitrile(**19**), L- galactose (**20**), n-Hexadecanoic acid (**21**), palmitoyl chloride (**22**), and gamma –sitosterol (**23**), 7-diene-3-of-20-one (**24**), stigmasterol (**25**) and stigmasterol 3-OB-D- gluo pyranoside (**26**). Acids in *M. oleifera* releases hydroxyl ions in water hence making the solution alkaline (Yuliastri *et al.*, 2016). Further reports indicate that *M. oleifera* seeds are a useful source of plant oil for diesel substitute production (M.

Amanullah and Ramasamy, 2019) but more work needs to be done on *Moringa oleifera* leaves in the petroleum industry because little has been reported on it.



Plate 2.4: Moringa oleifera plant pictures



Figure 2.4: Compounds found in the leaves of *M. oleifera*

2.9 Surface-active compounds from plants in drilling mud formulation

Natural surface-active agents are derived either from plants or animals. Non-ionic biosurfactants like saponins originate from plants. Structurally, surface-active agents have diversified due to their emulsifying and foaming agents' characteristics which are caused by hydrophobic and hydrophilic nature (Muntaha and Khan, 2015).

The physicochemical properties of surface-active agents give them relevance for use in industrial applications. For instance, surface-active agents have the ability to form supramolecular structures like liquid crystals, vesicles, mono-layers, bilayers, multi-layers and micelles by adsorption and aggregation. Surface-active agents are applicable both in edible and non-edible uses (Sharma *et al.*, 2018).

Surface-active agents also have a sweet and bitter taste. Surface-active agents have hydrophobic and hydrophilic molecules that give them foaming and emulsifying property (El-Sayed and Ahmed, 2016). Their biological properties like antimicrobial, insecticides, etc. are useful in food, pharmaceutical, and cosmetic industries. The application of surface-active agents in industries leads to negative environmental impacts because large quantities are discharged in diverse environments. Compounds in synthetic surface-active agents can lead to health risks like respiratory irritation, dermatitis and eye problems (Muntaha and Khan, 2015). Owing to their natural origin, natural surface-active agents have low negative impacts on the environment, good bio-compatibility and are available in large quantities. They can work effectively in extreme conditions like pH, temperatures, and salinity (Tmáková *et al.*, 2016). In industries that produce gas and oil, surface-active agents are used in the formulation of oil-based and water-based drilling muds. Surface-active agents are also used in enhanced oil recovery, oil-water gas separation, corrosion inhibitors and

dispersing agents. Surface-active agents also have been utilized to reduce rheology, as a lubricant and lower the risk of water blockage (Okoro *et al.*, 2015). Some researchers have found out that the use of surface-active agents decreased the amount of lost filtration and it improved the overall performance of water-based mud (Oseh *et al.*, 2019).

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Materials

3.1 Materials

Purchase of all the reagents and chemicals used was done from Scientific Laboratory Suppliers, the U.K. They were all of the analytical grade (AG). Solvents used were hexane, acetone, methanol, and chloroform. Chemicals used were, Bentonite clay, Barite, Potassium Chloride (KCl), hydro polyanionic cellulose low viscosity (Hydro PAC LV), caustic soda (NaOH) and ARBREAK (commercially available surfactant).

Among the equipment and apparatus used for sample analysis were; FT-IR (Perkin- Elmer, Beaconsfield, (UK Spectrum one FT-IR spectrometer), Fann HPHT filter press 387 model (Fann instrument company, Huston, Texas, U.S.A), Hamilton Beach mixer (commercial, U.S.A), Roller oven MM 8601 model (Baroid, U.S.A), OFITE viscometer 900model (OFI testing equipment, U.S.A patent 6,776,028), pH meter 081439 model (Thermo electron corporation, U.S.A) and Baroid Mud balance 140 model (U.S.A).

3.2 Methods

3.2.1 Sample collection, identification, and preparation

Sample plant leaves were obtained from the Choba area in Port Harcourt, Rivers states, Nigeria. The geographical coordinates of Port Harcourt are 4° 54' 10.4724" North, 7° 0'4.5468" East. Taxonomic identification of fresh green leaves was carried out at the University of Port Harcourt in the department of Plant Science and Biotechnology. The leaves were shade-dried for one month before grinding into a fine powder. The powdered plant's samples were kept in airtight containers, labeled and kept in a cool dry place.

3.2.2 pH of the plant sample

Fine powder of 4 g each from the plants were mixed with 10mL of distilled water and shaken slightly for 30 seconds and left to settle down for 10 minutes before taking the pH measurement.

3.2.3 Extraction of plant material

The ground powder of 200 g each was soaked in three different solvents: hexane, acetone, and methanol of 500 ml each at room temperature of (25°C) for 48 hours with occasional shaking. The next process was filtering with Whatman No. 1 filter paper and rotary evaporation was done to eliminate the solvent. The crude extracts were then transferred into airtight containers and reserved for more analysis.

3.3 Characterization of extracts

3. 3.1 Phytochemical screening

Phytochemical screening of saponins in crude extracts was done using standard procedures

(Ajuru et al., 2017)

Saponin test: To test for the presence of saponins, 2 g of plant extract was treated with 1% lead acetate. The presence of saponins is indicated by the formation of white precipitate.

Foam test: "Robot Marie" Model was used to determine foam characteristics of the plant powder.

Foaming properties of the extract were determined using 2 g powder in 100 ml of distilled water. The content in every measuring cylinder was covered with hand palm both top and the bottom. Thorough Shaking of the mixture was done 50 times then it was allowed to settle in the cylinder for 1 minute. Measurements of the foam volume was taken immediately and at the initial time. Measurements were also recorded during the time of the complete disappearance of the last trace of the foam. The presence of saponins is

indicated when a stable foam is formed (Eka *et al.*, 2017). The experiment was conducted in triplicates.

3. 3. 2 FTIR characterization

All the crude extracts from the four plants were subjected to FT- IR spectroscopy. FT-IR results were recorded in the solid-state as KBr pellet, the dispersion was done using the FT-IR spectrometer.

The crude extract was mixed with KBr (IR- grade) at a ratio of 1:100 and pressed to a pellet. The pellet was put into the sample holder of Perkin Elmer Spectrophotometer and the scanning range was between 4000-500cm⁻¹. Functional groups present in the crude extracts of the plants were obtained through the spectral data.

3.4 Formulation of water-based mud

3.4.1 Formulation of standard water-based muds (Control mud)

It was done through negative and positive control and mud formulation which encompassed the following ingredients: Water, bentonite, caustic soda, and potassium chloride, hydro PAC (LV), barite and ARBREAK (industrial surfactant). After five minutes, the samples were added in a mixer and then as per set standards left to mix for 45 minutes (Yunita *et al.*, 2015).

3.4.2 Formulation of water-based mud using plant extracts

Plant extract was added in water-based mud with the other additives and mixed the same way as the control drilling muds were formulated (Yunita *et al.*, 2015)but with little modification, as shown in Table 3.1.

ADDITIVES	FORMULATION 1	FORMULATION 2	FORMULATION 3	FUNCTION
	(C1)	(C2)	(Test mud)	
Water	318.74ml	318.74	318.74	Base fluid
Bentonite	17.50g	17.50	17.50	Viscosifier & Fluid loss
				control
Caustic Soda	0.25	0.25	0.25	pH control
KCl	10.70	10.70	10.70	Inhibitor
Hydro PAC LV	3.00	3.00	3.00	Fluid loss control &
				Viscosifier
Barite	68.72	68.72	68.72	Weighting agent
Plant extract	-	-	1%, 2%, 3% and 4%	Rheology modifier
Commercial	-	1%, 2%, 3%, and 4%		
surfactant				

Table 3.1:	Drilling mud	formulations
-------------------	--------------	--------------

Key: C1- Mud without plant sample or any surface-active agent

C2- Mud with commercial surfactant (ARBREAK)

NB: *Plant extract varied depending on the investigated plant type.

Selected plants were: Terminalia mantaly, Carica papaya, Madagascar almond, Veronia

amygdalina

3.5 Characterization of drilling muds

3.5.1 Mud weight

Mud density was measured using Baroid mud balance and adjusted to account for friction pressure drop in an annulus giving equivalent circulating density. The total volume was given by the sum of the component after assuming that the resulting mud mixture from all the

additives and water were ideal; (Werner et al., 2017).

3.5.2 pH of the formulated mud

The pH of formulated muds and the plants' powder without formulation were determined using pH meter. Readings were done at room temperature of 25°C (Mansoor *et al.*, 2018). After drilling mud was formulated, they were then left for 30 minutes and the pH tested. pH was also tested after each aging temperature (Brian, 2016).

3.5.3 Rheological properties

The procedure that was used in measuring the rheological properties was the standard of the American Petroleum Institute (API).

3.5.3.1 Plastic viscosity and yield point

A FANN VG viscometer was used to measure plastic viscosity (PV) and yield point (YP). The viscometer has a heating jacket to control the temperature using the API standard method. The relationship between shear rate and share stress was obtained through the readings. Shear rate PV and YP were calculated by using Equation 3.1 and 3.2 (Elkatatny, 2019).

$$PV (cP) = 600 \text{ rpm} - 300 \text{ rpm}$$
 3.1
 $YP (lb/100 \text{ ft2}) = (plastic viscosity)- (300 \text{ rpm})$ 3.2

The dial readings were recorded at different rotations per minute (RPM) i.e 600, 300, 200, 100, 6 and 3. All the readings were taken at different temperatures of 30°C, 49°C, 50°C and 70°C. The difference in temperature may demonstrate the raised temperature at the bottom hole (Mohammed, 2017).

3.5.3.2 Gel strength

The gel strengths of the fluids were measured to know how temperature and plant concentration affect the fluid's gel strength. Two readings were taken, after agitation of the mud in the cup for 10 seconds and 10 more minutes to allow the mud in the cup to settle. A comparison of the two readings was done to see the strength of the mud as either Progressive or flat in different mud formulations. The viscometer can test the properties of the drilling fluid such as viscosity and gel strength, under different temperatures (Neshat and Shadizadeh, 2016).

3.5.4 Effect of temperature (Aging)

A thermal stability test was conducted. This was done through heating the drilling mud at room temperature (25°C) to a testing temperature (35,65 and 93°C) using roller oven for 16 hours and then cooling it to ambient temperature according to (He *et al.*, 2016). Formulated mud with 2% concentration was chosen. Hence, the rheological properties of the mud were taken after exposure to three different aging temperatures. This was because the viscosity of the mud is a role of temperature than it is of pressure. Three temperatures were chosen for aging 35°C (believed to be subsurface temperature), 65°C and 93°C is the temperature between surface temperature and bottom whole temperature (Ahmadi *et al.*, 2017; E. Hosseini *et al.*, 2017). Tested properties after aging were: pH, mud weight, rheological properties, filtration loss and filter cake.

For the aged sample, the rheology was tested at 49°C which is a standard temperature to perform rheology tests according to American Petroleum Institute (API) and it is mostly used in an oil field test on rheological parameters (Dias *et al.*, 2015). The results were compared with that of un-aged samples data at 49°C.

3.5.5 Filtration loss

For the filtration characteristic of the mud to be determined, the filtrate volume was measured. API fluid loss apparatus Fann HPHT filter press was used at 93°C and 500psi and the filtrate obtained after 30 minutes ($\Delta P = 500$ psi, no. 5 Whatman filter paper). The volume of filtrate loss was recorded from the graduated cylinder at the end of 30 minutes. Filtration loss test was also done for the aged samples (Agwu *et al.*, 2015).

3.5.6 Filter Cake

At the end of the filtration loss test, the filter paper in the fluid loss cup was removed and the mud cake was measured using a tape measure according to (Agwu *et al.*, 2015).

3.6. Data analysis

All the data were obtained in triplicates and data were expressed as mean \pm SEM. The data were subjected to multivariate analysis of variance (MANOVA) using SPSS and statistical significance was obtained at P < 0.05.

CHAPTER FOUR

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

4.1 Results

4.1.1 Sample collection and preparation

Table 4.1 shows how the samples were labeled. The selected particle size for plant leaves

was 250 µm.

Plant name	Plant powder Labelling	Mud labeling
Carica papaya (Pawpaw)	PL	MPL
Moringa oleifera (Moringa)	ML	MML
Terminalia mantaly (Madagascar almond)	TL	MTL
Veronia amygdalina (Bitter leaf)	BL	MBL

 Table 4.1: Table showing the plants' names and labels used in the research.

4. 1. 2 Physicochemical characterization

Foaming tests results and pH of the powdered sample solution are shown in Table 4.2

Plant sample	Foam length (mL)	Time taken for the foam to disappear (minutes)	The pH of the plants leaves solution
ML	10	28.33	5.56
TL	20	65.66	4.61
BL	56	89.33	6.57
PL	25	89.66	6.37

Table 4.2: Foam forming ability and pH of the plant leaves solution

Qualitative test on saponins are in Table 4.3

The plants' sample pH was examined at ambient temperatures (25°C) and the results are displayed in Table 4.3

+	+		
	·	+	+
+	+	+	+
+	+	+	+
	+ +	+ + +	+ + +

Table 4.3: Qualitative test for saponins with different crude extracts

Key: + (positive) = presence of saponin

4.1.3 Spectroscopic studies

Plants' crude extracts from different solvents were subjected to Fourier Transform Infrared (FT-IR) to check the presence of functional groups that surface-active agents have. Figures 4.1 to 4.12 shows the major peaks that were detected in the spectra and their absorption frequencies.



Figure 4.1: FT-IR spectrum for PL powder



Figure 4.2: FT-IR spectrum for PL from hexane extract



Figure 4.3: FT-IR spectrum for PL from the chloroform extract



Figure 4.4: FT-IR spectrum for PL from methanol extract


Figure 4.5: FT-IR spectrum for ML powder



Figure 4.6: FT-IR spectrum for ML from hexane extract



Figure 4.7: FT-IR spectrum for ML from the chloroform extract



Figure 4.8: FT-IR spectrum for ML from methanol extract



Figure 4.9: FT-IR spectrum for TL powder



Figure 4.10: FT-IR spectrum for TL from hexane extract



Figure 4.11: FT-IR spectrum for TL from the chloroform extract



Figure 4.12: FT-IR spectrum for TL from methanol extract



Figure 4.13 FT-IR spectrum for BL powder



Figure 4.14 FT-IR spectrum for BL from hexane extract



Figure 4.15 FT-IR spectrum for BL from chloroform extract



Figure 4.16 FT-IR spectrum for BL from methanol extract

4.1.4 Drilling mud properties

Properties of the drilling mud that were checked are; pH, mud weight, plastic viscosity (PV), yield point (YP), filtration loss and filter cake. The drilling mud's thermal stability was also checked after aging the samples for 16 hours using three aging temperatures (35, 65 and 93° C).

4.1.4.1 pH and mud weight

The pH results of the formulated muds are shown in Table 4.8 while mud weight is shown in Table 4.9.

Concentration	Mud Sample pH										
	MTL	MML	PLM	MBL	C1	C2					
0%					10.44						
1%	7.6	8.6	9.12	9.28		10.05					
2%	7.5	8	8.29	8.1		10.1					
3%	7	7.45	7.53	7.5		10.1					
4%	6.9	7.63	7.4	7.11		10.2					

Table 4.8: pH of the mud

Table 4.9: Mud weight

Concentration	Mud s	sample n	nud wei	ght (pp	g/ft ²)	
	MTL	MML	PLM	MBL	C1	C2
0%					10.3	
1%	10.06	10.03	10.6	10.2		9.8
2%	10.3	10.63	10.63	10.7		10.1
3%	10.8	10.6	10.33	10.1		10.1
4%	10.3	10.6	10.6	10.2		10.2

4.1.4.2 Mud rheology

The formulated drilling mud's rheology was investigated at different temperatures to mimic the rise in temperatures as the hole depths increases. Drilling muds of different formulations: with commercially used surfactant (C2), without any of the surface-active agent (C1), mud with plant leaves were compared. Mud rheology results are presented in Tables 4.10 - 4.13.

Abbreviations used in the graphs are:

MML = Mud with *M. Oleifera* leaves, MPL= Mud with *C. papaya* leaves, MBL = Mud with *V. amygdalina* leaves and MTL = Mud with *T. mantaly* leaves.

The dial readings' values were increasing progressively from 3 rpm to 600rpm. The optimal concentration of the plant sample chosen was 2 % for a further test of mud properties i.e, thermal stability.

	Concentration / Temperature															
RPM		19	6			2%				39	%			49	%	
	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C
600	100	66	64	49	114	75	73	57	166	125	118	102	166	125	118	102
300	60	39	37	29	69	44	42	34	99	76	73	65	99	76	73	65
200	45	28	28	20.3	50	32	31	24	74	55	54	51	74	55	54	51
100	26	16	15	11	30	19	18	14	47	35	23	34	47	35	23	34
6	3	2	2	1	4	2	2	2	9	6	5	12	9	6	5	12
3	2	1	1	1.1	3	2	2	2	8	6	6	11	8	6	6	11
PV	40	27	26	20	45	31	31	23	67	49	45	37	67	49	45	37
YP	20	12	10	9	23	13	11	11	32	27	27	28	32	27	28	28
GEL																
STRENGHT																
10 sec	1.7	1.2	1.6	1	4.7	3.5	4.1	2.3	7.9	6.8	7.5	5.4	7.9	6.8	7.5	5.4
10 min	5	4.1	5.1	3.1	12	10.7	11.7	9.1	20.2	15.2	19.5	12.5	20.2	15.2	19.5	12.5

Table 4.10: Mud Rheology of MTL different concentrations and temperatures

								С	oncent	ration	/ Tem	peratu	re			
		1%	6			2%					%			49	%	
RPM	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C
600	126	79	73	70	138	95	94	74	235	136	204	136	337	338	367	337
300	77	48	43	43	80	57	55	42	148	88	131	88	328	236	225	294
200	58	23	33	31	61	42	41	32	115	72	101	72	260	188	179	247
100	37	22	19	23	37	26	25	20	76	54	70	54	176	131	169	182
6	6	4	3	3	6	4	4	3	17	19	21	19	49	42	74	93
3	4	3	3	4	57	3	3	3	17	20	20	20	43	40	74	89
PV	49	31	30	27	59	38	39	32	87	48	73	56	9	102	112	43
YP	28	17	13	17	21	19	16	10	61	40	57	46	319	133	113	251
GEL STRENGHT																
10 sec	3.6	3.5	3.6	1.2	7.2	6.5	8.5	2.5	12.1	8.1	11.9	8.1	20	19.3	21.2	15
10 min	6.2	5.1	6.8	4.2	14.2	13	16	11.7	25	19.6	24.3	19.6	85	72.5	84.1	60.1

Table 4.11: Mud Rheology of MBL with different concentrations and temperatures

	Concentration / Temperature															
RPM		19	%			2%				3	%			4	%	
	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C
600	102	71	74	55	169	113	119	108	233	176	207	184	275	225	207	183
300	61	41	41	33	104	72	77	69	144	110	123	112	166	133	123	112
200	45	30	30	24	79	54	57	55	107	82	95	87	125	99	96	87
100	26	18	18	14	50	35	37	37	66	50	61	56	77	62	61	56
6	3	2	2	2	9	7	8	12	12	13	12	18	14	12	13	18
3	2	1	1	1	8	6	8	11	11	9	11	17	13	12	11	17
PV	41	30	33	23	61	41	42	39	89	66	84	72	109	92	84	72
YP	21	9	10	10	37	32	35	30	55	44	44	40	57	41	39	41
GEL STRENGHT																
10 sec	1.7	0.9	2	1.1	7.5	5.8	7.9	5	14.3	9	14	6	17.2	14	15.3	12
10 min	4.5	3.7	4.4	2.1	15.8	12.9	15.3	10.5	30.2	25	31.1	20	47	40	48	30

Table 4.12: Mud Rheology of MML with different concentrations and temperatures

	Concentration / Temperature															
RPM		1%	6			2%	0			3%	/o			4%	/ 0	
	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C	30°C	49°C	50°C	70°C
600	103	78	76	55	76	48	47	36	128	84	110	63	301	185	181	137
300	61	46	45	31	43	26	26	20	74	45	65	34	181	111	110	79
200	44	33	33	23	30	18	18	14	53	33	47	25	135	80	81	58
100	26	19	19	13	15	10	10	7	29	19	28	14	80	47	47	35
6	3	2	2	1	1	1	1	1	3	2	3	2	10	6	6	5
3	2	1.2	1	1	1	1	1	1	2	1	2	1	7	5	4.3	4
PV	42	32	31	24	33	22	21	16	54	38	44	29	120	74	71	58
YP	19	14	13	7	10	6	5	4	20	13	21	5	61	37	39	21
GEL																
STRENGHT																
10 sec	2.6	2	2	0.6	6	6	4	3	5.6	4	8.4	1.6	8.4	5.7	6.5	4.5
10 min	4.5	4.6	4.2	4.7	9	8	8	6	7.3	6.3	12	2.4	13.8	11.8	12	9

Table 4.13: Mud Rheology of PML with different concentrations and temperatures

4.1.4.3 Filtration loss and the filter cake

Figure 4.13 shows the temperature effect and concentration on filtration loss of the drilling mud.

Figure 4.14 shows the temperature and concentration effect on filter cake formed after the filtration

loss test.



Figure 4.17: Effect of temperature and concentration on filtration loss



Figure 4.18: Effect of temperature and concentration on filter cake

4.1.5 Thermal stability test

4.1.5.1 pH and mud weight

Figure 4.15 and Figure 4.16 shows pH and mud weight respectively.



Figure 4. 19: pH of the mud after aging at different temperatures.



Key: ppg = pounds per gallon

Figure 4.20: Effect of aging on mud weight

4.1.5.2 Rheological properties after aging

Table 4.14 shows dial readings, gel strength yield point and plastic viscosity at different aging temperatures.

							AG	ING T	EMPE	RAT	URES	/ MUD)					
	35°C						65°C								93C°			
RPM	MTL	MML	MBL	MPL	C1	C2	MTL	MML	MBL	MPL	C1	C2	MTL	MML	MBL	MPL	C1	C2
600	96	111	90	41	91	13.8	42	64	57	77	136	12.5	42	64	57	77	136	12.1
300	63	78	62	23	63	8.1	24	36	33	47	100	8	24	36	33	47	100	7.2
200	49	63	43	20	46	5.2	18	27	24	34	85	5.2	18	27	24	34	85	5
100	30	39	27	11	32	2.4	10	13	14	20	65	2.4	10	13	14	20	65	2.3
6	5	6	5	3	6	0.2	2	2	1	2	32	0.2	2	2	1	2	32	0.3
3	5	5	4	3	4	0.2	2	2	1	1	33	0.2	2	2	1	1	33	0.2
PV	33	33	28	14	28	5.8	17	28	24	30	36	4.5	18	28	24	30	36	4.9
YP	30	45	34	9	35	1.1	7	8	7	16	64	3.5	6	8	9	16	64	2.3
GEL																		
STRENGHT																		
10 sec	4	6	4	4	4	0.1	0.8	1.6	0.6	1.3	26.8	0.1	0.8	1.6	0.6	1.3	26.8	0.1
10min	5	8	8	6	6	0.1	5	7.2	4.1	5.1	55.8	0.1	5	7.2	4.1	5.1	55.8	0.1

Table 4.14: Mud Rheology of mud samples of 2% concentration of the plant sample taken at 49°C after aging at different temperatures.

4.1.5.3 Filtration loss and mud cake after aging

Figures 4.16 and 4.17 shows the temperature effect on fluid loss and filter cake of the mud with 2% plant leaves.



Figure 4.21: Effect of temperature on the fluid loss of the mud



Figure 4. 22: Mud cake after aging at different temperatures

4.2. Discussion of results

4.2.1 Sample collection and preparation

Four plant leaves were collected and prepared for analysis. The plant samples were labeled PL (*Carica papaya* leaves), BL (*Veronia amygdalina* leaves), TL (*Terminalia mantaly* leaves) and ML (*Moringa oleifera* leaves).

4.2.2 Phytochemical screening

Drainage affects the foam's lifetime because when the bubbles are closer to each other, liquid's films break ultimately leading to the collapse of the foam (Rio *et al.*, 2014). Foaming of *Carica papaya* leaves (PL) and *Veronia amygdalina* leaves (BL) took the longest time by recording 89.66 and 89.33 minutes respectively. This long time taken by the foam reflects the strength of the foam which directly implies that PL and BL have a large number of foaming components which is in agreement with other studies (Huo *et al.*, 2016). BL recorded the least of 28.33 minutes and this could be because its foaming properties are not more or they get deactivated fast. The same results were observed when investigating saponins from the leaves of *Tephrosia vogelii* (A. Jain *et al.*, 2019).

The BL formed the highest foam height (56mL), followed by PL, *Terminalia mantaly* leaves (TL) and lastly *Moringa oleifera* leaves (ML). Foam height was proportional to foaming time and agreed with (Hill and Eastoe, 2017). Dispersions of gas bubbles in liquids or solids form foam. Foams occur commonly naturally and are used in commercial applications and industrial processes (Langevin, 2017). Liquid foams are important in liquid/gas contacting processes like floatation of minerals. Aqueous surfactant solutions are utilized in making foams that are used widely in cosmetic, fire-fighting and oil production companies in oil recovery (Le Merrer *et al.*, 2013) hence these plant's foams

can be utilized. Qualitative tests on saponins on the crude extracts showed that all the selected plants had saponin.

4.2.3 Spectroscopic characterization

4.2.3.1 FT-IR for *Carica papaya* leaves

Figures 4.1 to 4.4 and Appendix 1 shows the FT-IR obtained from *C. papaya*. In Figure 4.1, the spectrum from PL powder gave peaks at 3422.7cm⁻¹ for O-H stretch (monomeric alcohols). The small band at 2924.1cm⁻¹ is for a C-H stretch and 1383.95cm⁻¹ for O-H bending in alcohol. The medium and broadband at 1628.9cm⁻¹ correspond to N-H bend for primary amines. The band at 1247.79cm⁻¹ is for a C-N stretch for amines and at 1051cm⁻¹ is for C-O stretch in alcohols. The peak at 668.35cm⁻¹ corresponds to C - O in (COO) stretching for a carboxylic group.

The FTIR spectrum in Figure 4.2, shows hexane extract spectrum with band at 3399 cm⁻¹ which is for O-H stretching in alcohol (Fadare *et al.*, 2015). The sharp peak at 2925.10cm⁻¹ is for O-H stretching in alcohol. The small band at 2853.73 cm⁻¹ is for C-H stretching in alkanes. The peak obtained at 1735 cm⁻¹ indicates the presence of C=O for ketones or carbonyl group belonging to flavonoids and the broad peak at 1631.81cm⁻¹ is for N-H bend in amines. The small peak at 1383.95cm⁻¹ shows the presence of O-H bending for phenols. The last peak at 1076.30 cm⁻¹ relates to C-O stretch in alcohol.

In Figure 4.3 the spectrum seen at 3430.5cm⁻¹ is for O-H stretch in hydrogen-bonded alcohols. The peak at 2930.9cm⁻¹ is for N-H stretch in amine and 2851.8cm⁻¹ is for C-H alkanes. The peak obtained at 1377cm⁻¹ is for O-H bending in alcohol while at 1165cm⁻¹ corresponds to C-H waging for alkyl halides (-CH₂X). Other peaks were observed at

1629.9cm⁻¹ for N-H bend in primary amines, 1086.9cm⁻¹ for C-O stretch in alcohols and 836.16cm⁻¹ for C-H for aromatic.

In Figure 4.4 FT-IR bands are seen between 2852 - 2929cm⁻¹, 1736.9cm- and 1384cm- for C- H stretch corresponding to alkanes. The small peak at 1736.9cm⁻¹ is for C=O stretching for aldehydes. The peak at 1464.06 cm⁻¹ indicates the presence of C-C stretch in-ring for aromatics. The same peaks were observed by (Prasetya *et al.*, 2018). The bands between 1066.7 and 1164.1 cm⁻¹ is for C-O stretching belonging to carboxylic acid, alcohols, ethers and esters (Juárez-Rojop *et al.*, 2014).

The different functional groups detected in the extracts of *C. papaya* from different solvents indicate the presence of amino acids shown by the presence of amine groups, lipids, carotenoids, flavonoids, and saponins. The presence of steroids is indicated by wavenumbers at 1383.95 cm⁻¹ and 1460.14 cm⁻¹ in hexane extract, 1377.20 cm⁻¹ and 1454.35 cm⁻¹ in chloroform extract and lastly in peaks at 1383.95 cm⁻¹ and 1460.14 cm⁻¹ in methanol extract as reported in the literature (Fasya *et al.*, 2019).

The FT-IR analysis for *C. papaya* leave extract from different solvents revealed that all the extracts showed the presence of O-H, C-H, C = O, COO, N-H, and C- O (aromatics) in all the extracts and powder. C-N group was only shown in leaves' powder and not in the crude extracts which could be attributed to its insolubility in the solvents. Amines were seen in the *C. papaya* powder, hexane and chloroform extract. Methanol extracted most compounds that were in agreement with other reported literature (Khaw *et al.*, 2019).

4.2.3.2 FT-IR for *Moringa oleifera* leaves

Figures 4.5 to 4.8 and Appendix 2 shows the FT-IR obtained from *M. oleifera*. In Figure 4.5 the band seen at 3380.3cm⁻¹ is for O-H stretch in alcohols, 2917.4 cm⁻¹ and 2849.9 cm⁻¹ are for C-H stretch in alkanes. A small peak at 1737.9cm⁻¹ corresponds to C = O stretch for esters and 1384 cm⁻¹ for O-H bending in phenols. The peaks at 1319.3cm⁻¹, 1243.1cm⁻¹ and 1052cm⁻¹ for C-O stretch in alcohols and 780.22cm⁻¹ for =C-H bend for alkenes. In Figure 4.6, peaks were seen at 3399.6cm⁻¹ being O-H stretch and 1377.2cm⁻¹ for O-H bend in alcohol. Peaks at 1098.5cm⁻¹, 1164.1cm⁻¹ and 1244cm⁻¹ is for C=O stretch in alcohols. Other peaks were observed at 2922.2cm⁻¹, 2853.7cm^{-1,} and 1453.4cm⁻¹ for C-H stretch in alkanes. Another peak was seen at 1711.9cm⁻¹ for C=O stretch due to the presence of carboxylic acid. For Figure 4.7, peaks were seen at 3376.45 cm⁻¹ for O-H stretch in alcohols, 1242.4, 1160.2 and 1060.9 cm⁻¹ for C=O stretch in alcohols. 2919.3 cm⁻¹ and 2849.9 cm⁻¹ for C-H stretch in alkanes. Other peaks were seen at 1736.9 cm⁻¹ for C=O stretch in alcohols, 1655.9 cm⁻¹ is for C=C stretching in alkenes and 1632.8 cm⁻¹ for C=C stretching in cyclic alkenes and 719.46 cm⁻¹ for C-H in aromatics.

4.2.3.3 FT-IR for *Terminalia mantaly* leaves

Figures 4.9 to 4.12 and Appendix 3 shows the FT-IR obtained from *T. mantaly*. In Figure 4.9, the pectrum peaks were observed at 2921.24 cm⁻¹ are for C-H stretch in aromatics, 1732.11 cm^{-1} for

C = O stretch in aldehydes, 1614.45 cm⁻¹ for C=C stretching in saturated ketone where 1445.67cm⁻¹ for C-C stretch in in-ring aromatic. Other peaks were seen at 1383.95cm⁻¹ and 1036.76cm⁻¹ for C-O stretching found in alcohol. The peak at 780.22cm⁻¹ is indicating the C-H bending for 1, 2, 3 tri substituted compound. In Figure 4.10, peaks seen at 3450.71cm⁻¹

¹ is for O-H which is associated with the alcohols, 2924.3cm⁻¹, 2851.8cm⁻¹ and 1740.79 cm⁻¹ for C-H stretch in alkanes. Peaks seen at 1458.21cm⁻¹ is for C-C stretch in in-ring, 1383.95 cm⁻¹ for O-H bending in phenol and 721.39 cm⁻¹ for C-H rock in alkanes. In Figure 4.11, peaks were seen at 3408cm⁻¹ for O-H stretch in alcohols or phenols, 2853.73cm⁻¹ and 2926.06cm⁻¹ for C-H stretch in alkanes, 1735 cm⁻¹ for C=O stretch in esters or saturated aliphatics. Other peaks were seen at 1617.34 cm⁻¹ for C=C stretching in alkenes, 1448.57 cm⁻¹ for C-C stretching in in-ring and 1383.95 cm⁻¹ for O-H bending in phenols. Peaks were also seen at 1352.12 cm⁻¹ for C-H rocking in alkanes, 1184.31cm⁻¹ for C-H waging and 1038.69 cm⁻¹ for C-N stretching in aromatic amines.

Figure 4.12 shows spectrum peaks which are seen at 2960.78 cm⁻¹, 2920.28 cm⁻¹, 2920.84 cm⁻¹ and 2850.84 cm⁻¹ for C-H stretch in alkanes. The peaks at 1736.93 cm⁻¹ correspond to C=O stretch in esters, 1452.42 cm⁻¹ for C-H bend in alkanes and 1383.95 cm⁻¹ for O-H bending in alcohols. *T. mantaly* peaks illustrate the presence of aromatics, alcohols, esters and ketones. The different vibrations observed might be because of the presence of proteins, terpenoids, and other phytochemicals. Such compounds with the observed functional groups have been detected in *Terminalia* species plants and have been documented (El-Rafie and Hamed, 2014).

4.2.3.4 FT-IR for Veronia amygdalina leaves

Figures 4.13 to 4.16 and Appendix 4 shows the FT-IR obtained from *V. amygdalina* leave extracts. In Figure 4.13, peaks were observed at 3419.85 cm⁻¹ for O-H stretch in alcohol, 2919.31cm⁻¹ C-H stretch in alkanes, 1635.66 cm⁻¹ for N-H bend in primary amines, 1384.91 cm⁻¹ for C-H bending in aldehydes, 1324.15cm⁻¹ and 1253.75cm⁻¹ for C-N stretch

in aromatic amines. Other peaks were seen at 1159.24 cm^{-1} and 1053.15 cm^{-1} for C-O stretch for alcohol.

As for Figure 4.14, peaks were observed at 3417.92cm⁻¹ for O-H stretch in alcohols, 2938.60 cm⁻¹ and 2857.59 cm⁻¹ and 1462.07 cm⁻¹ for C-H stretch in alkanes, 1137.89 cm⁻¹ for C=O stretch in esters. Other peaks seen at 1171.78 cm⁻¹ correspond to C-O stretch associated with alcohols, 835.19 cm⁻¹ for C-H aromatic and 720.4 cm⁻¹ for C-H rocking in alkanes.

In Figure 4.15, peaks are seen at 3423.71 cm⁻¹ for O-H stretch in alcohols and phenols, 2922.21 cm⁻¹ and 2850.84 cm⁻¹ for C-H stretch in alkanes. Other peaks were seen at 1732.11cm⁻¹ for C=O stretching aldehydes, 1620.23cm⁻¹ for C=C stretching in unsaturated ketones, 1455.32 cm⁻¹ and 1383.95 cm⁻¹ for C-H bend in alkanes. The peaks at 1164.06 cm⁻¹ correspond to C-H waging in alkyl halides, 1039.65 cm⁻¹ for C-O stretch in alcohols and 981.78 cm⁻¹ for a =C-H bend in alkenes.

In Figure 4.16 shows peaks at 3401.53 cm⁻¹ corresponding to O-H stretch in alcohols, 1076.30 cm⁻¹ and 1044.47 cm⁻¹ for C-O stretch in alcohols and peaks at 2927.06 cm⁻¹ and 2855.66 cm⁻¹ for C-H stretch in alkanes. Other peaks were seen at 1712.82 cm⁻¹ for C=O stretching in carboxylic acids, 1605.77 cm⁻¹ for N-H bend in primary amines, and 1444.71cm⁻¹ for C-C stretching in-ring aromatics. Peaks observed at 1383.95 cm⁻¹ correspond to aldehydes, 1264.36 cm⁻¹ for C-O stretch in aromatic esters and at 1163.10 cm⁻¹ for C-O stretch in aromatic amines.

Spectrum from *V. amygdalina* leaf powder, hexane, chloroform and methanol extracts shows major functional groups found in *V. amygdalina* leaves. Many peaks were seen between 1750 and 1000cm⁻¹ which indicates the chemical composition associated with

carbohydrates, lipids, secondary structures of proteins and phenolic compounds. The same observation was also reported in other literatures (Alara *et al.*, 2019). It is also observed that there are proteins, lipids, esters, and aromatic groups. Methanol extract had a higher extracting ability of the bioactive compounds from *V. amygdalina* leaves. Previous studies using the High-Performance Liquid Chromatography revealed that squalene, phytol, ethyl-2 –O- benzyl-d-arabinofuranoside and 9,12,15 octadecatrienoic acid and hexadecanoic acid ethyl ester were present in *V. amygdalina* leaves (Oladunmoye *et al.*, 2019).

4.2.4 pH

The pH of the leave extracts from the selected plants was determined and the results showed that all plant leave extracts were acidic. *T. mantaly* extract (TL) recorded the lowest pH of 4.61 while BL recorded the highest pH of 6.57. It is therefore expected that the plant leaves as mud additive might affect the overall drilling mud's pH by lowering its pH. At a pH of 7, the substance is neutral and above 7 means it is alkaline and below 7 it is acidic (Zhang *et al.*, 2016).

the pH of mud additives is very important because any slight change in pH can lead to several reactions or can stop reactions hence leading to the low activity of the drilling mud (Gholami *et al.*, 2018). Effectiveness of drilling mud additives is pH-dependent because it affects the interactions of clay, the solubility of contaminants and various components in the mud (Stuckman *et al.*, 2019) which makes pH parameter very important.

4.2.5 Drilling mud properties

4.2.5.1 pH of the drilling mud

In drilling mud, the main chemicals that are used in monitoring or controlling the alkalinity are carbonate ions, bicarbonate ions, and hydroxyl ions. In Appendix 5, control mud with the presence and absence of commercially available surfactant (C2 and C1 respectively) had higher values of pH. For the test muds, mud with *V. amygdalina* (MBL) recorded the highest pH of 9.28 at a concentration of 1%. The lowest pH of 6.9 was given by MTL at 4% concentration. It was also seen that as the concentration of the plant's leave increases, the pH decreased. This could be because the pH of the powdered plants' sample was lower and so contributes to the low pH of the formulated mud. Also, mud additives contribute to the overall pH of the drilling mud. In turn, acidic mud affects rheological properties by increasing YP, PV and gel strengths (Abduo *et al.*, 2016).

4.2.5.2 Rheological properties of the drilling mud

The obtained results from the mud rheology are grouped into three main categories:

- (i) temperature effect
- (ii) concentration effect and
- (iii) plant extract effect, on the drilling mud properties.

Table 4.14 shows the recommended values of the rheological properties of the mud by API.

Property of the mud	Recommended value
Plastic Viscosity (Cp)	8-35
Yield point (1b/100ft ²)	Minimum= 5
	Maximum= $YP \leq 3 \times PV$
10sec gel strength (1b/100ft ²)	2 - 5
10 Minute gel strength (1b/100ft ²)	2 - 35

Table 4.14: API recommended values for plastic viscosity (PV), yield point (YP) and gel strength

(Amosa et al., 2010)
4.2.5.2.1 Plastic viscosity (PV)

As shown Appendix 6 - 9, the temperature effect on PV of the drilling mud formulated from different plant materials and drilling mud with the commercially available surface-active agent and without any surface-active agent. It was seen that PV values decreased as the temperature was increasing from 30 -70°C. This observation might be due to the degradation of mud components (Avci and Mert, 2019). All the PV at 30°C of the mud increased with the rise in the concentration of plant material. The observed increase reflects the difference in the number of dissolved solids in the mud sample which alters the viscosity of the water. At 2% concentration, the MPL mud sample recorded the lowest PV of 33cP among the drilling mud with plant samples at 50°C for 1% plant concentration. PV for the drilling mud with 1% of the plant's leaves at 30°C was all above the permitted values excluding that of the control sample with the commercially available surface-active agent (C1). The other PV values at temperatures of 49-70°C were within permissible values (8-35Cp) for mud with a 1% plant sample.

Mud samples with a 2% plant sample had average plastic viscosities because most of the values were between 8-35cP except for the mud tested at 30°C which was high. The control mud sample was capable of maintaining the recommended PV values at all testing temperatures at 2%. At a concentration of 3 %, the PV values were above the recommended values except that of MPL at 70°C and C1 mud at 50°C. At 1-3% plant samples, MPL mud had lower PV values matched to other mud samples with corresponding temperatures. At 4% plant sample, MPL had the highest PV of 120cP at 30°C while MTL mud recorded the lowest PV of 38cP. It was noted that at 4% plant sample, PV was higher than recommended. This suggests that if 3 and 4% plant sample is added to the mud, it can lead to well problems due to high PV that it will be generated (Ma *et al.*, 2019). High plastic viscosities can result to increase in the surge (when bottom hole pressure increases because of high speed of drill string in the hole and swab (when bottom hole pressures reduce below formation pressure) pressures and can decrease the rate of penetration leading to differential of pipe sticking (Akpan *et al.*, 2019).

It was observed in Appendix 9 that plastic viscosities of the drilling mud increased as the concentration of plant material increased. The same tendency was observed when grass was used to formulate water-based drilling mud (Hossain and Wajheeuddin, 2016) where it increased from 8-9cP. Compared with other mud samples, PV of mud with a commercially surface-active agent (C2) did not degrade more but their PV values were low (21-30cP).

4.2.5.2.2 Yield point (YP)

The yield point of formulated mud samples varied with a change in concentration and temperatures. Appendices 10 to 13 show the temperature and plant sample effect in YP of the drilling mud. It has been reported from the literature that properties of the drilling mud like YP affect the rate of penetration (ROP) considerably. The existence of unremoved solids can result to chip hold down effect which increases differential pressure which reduces ROP (Hossain and Wajheeuddin, 2016).

From Appendix 10 for (1% concentration), C2 had a higher YP of 71 1b/100ft² at 30°C while MPL mud had the lowest YP of 7 1b/100ft² at 93°C. However, all the other YP were within the recommended value at 1% concentration except that of C1 at 30°C. In Appendix 11, it shows that at a concentration of 2%, C2 had relatively high YP of 75, 75 and 73 1b/100ft² at temperatures of 30, 49 and 50°C respectively. At this concentration (1%), MPL gave the lowest values of YP (10, 6, 5 and 4 1b/100ft²) at temperatures of 30, 49, 50 and 70°C respectively.

Adequate YP is required in the drilling mud to guarantee the well cleaning of the whole process (Yunita *et al.*, 2016). At 70°C, the 4 1b/100ft² is considered low YP according to (Ojewumi *et al.*, 2019) which can result in problems down hole like settlement of the drill cuttings and accumulation hence leading to stuck pipe (A. Amanullah, 2016). At 3% plant concentration, it can be realized from the results that MBL recorded the highest YP of 133 1b/100ft² at 70°C. C1 mud sample had relatively high YP at temperatures of 30, 49 and 50 °C where at 50°C is considered undesirable because it may cause high pressures during the drilling process as reported (Mao *et al.*, 2015).

At 4 % concentration (Appendix 13), MBL mud showed the highest YP of 251 $1b/100ft^2$ which is high. As reported in the literature, an increase in YP can be due to the effect of particles surface at a certain temperature that leads to high particle interactions and hence a higher YP (Ghosn *et al.*, 2017). Also, PV of the drilling mud can be affected by contaminants like salt in the drilling fluid (Raheem, 2018).

4.2.5.2.3 Gel strength

Appendices 16 to 23 shows comparisons of gel strengths between the formulated muds (test mud and control muds). Gel strength at 10 seconds should be between 2 and 5 1b/100ft² and that at 10 minutes should be between 2 and 351b/100ft². In Appendices 16 to 19, MPL mud gave values of 2.6, 2 and 2 1b/100ft² at test temperatures of 30°C, 49°C and 63°C respectively at 1% concentration. MML mud had 2 1b/100ft² at 50°C at 1 % concentration while the rest were lower than 2 1b/100ft². At 1% concentration, MBL mud gave good values of 3.6, 3.5, 3.6 1b/100f² at 30°C, 49°C and 50°C respectively. C1 mud recorded 4, 1, 2 and 2.3 1b/100f² at testing temperatures. C2 mud recorded higher and undesirable values of gel strength at 10 seconds (12- 51.2 1b/100f²) at all testing temperatures hence high pressures needed to resume drilling process leading to risks in operation. At higher concentrations (2 to 4%), all the 10 seconds gel strengths were higher except MTL mud which had accepted values of 4.7, 3.5, 4.1 and 2.3 1b/100f² at all testing temperatures.

From Appendices 18 to 21, at 10 minute gel strength, most values were within recommended values (2-35 1b/100f²) in most testing temperatures. However, the MBL mud with 4% concentration had higher gel strengths of 72, 58, 84 and 60.1 1b/100ft² at 30, 49, 50 and 70°C respectively. C2 mud sample had gel strength of 50, 48 and 43 1b/100ft² at 2 % concentration which was high at 30, 49 and 63°C respectively. At 4 % concentration at a temperature of 70°C, C2 mud gave a value of 201b/100f² which was within the acceptable values. It is quite important to note that high gel strength leads to high pump initiation pressure which may cause formation fracture and loss in circulation. Also, low

gel strengths will lead to the powerlessness of the drilling mud to suspend the drilling cuttings which is one of the main roles of drilling mud (Ranjan and Dutta, 2017).

It was observed that gel strengths increased after the addition of the plant material. The influence of plant material on the gel strengths could be accredited to hydrogen bonding of the hydroxyl group in the plants with other mud additives like bentonite clay and hydro PAC (Barry *et al.*, 2015). Gel strength depends mainly on the attractive forces and it is associated with the yield point (Salih and Bilgesu, 2017). Hydro PAC is anionic, therefore, adsorption and flocculation results due to hydrogen bonding between hydroxyl groups on the polymer and the solids' surfaces (Shaikh *et al.*, 2017).

4.2.5.2.4 Filtration loss

Filtration loss was measured at 500 psi at 93°C after 30 minutes. From Appendix 24, that there was a decrease in the fluid loss after adding the plant material (18 to 5mL). In another research, they discovered that after adding a grass sample in the drilling mud, water loss was decreased by 19% (Hossain and Wajheeuddin, 2016). Also, there was a decrease in concentrations of 3% and 4% mud sample. The same trend was also observed by (Agin *et al.*, 2019) after adding 1,6- hexamethylenediamine in the drilling mud formulations. Normally, drilling fluid contains the suspended particles and these particles flow laterally into the formation (Fink, 2015) which is filter paper in this research work. Filter paper plays a role as a sieve and captures the particles hence forming filter cake that reduces the fluid loss. Thus, the more suspended particles are present in the drilling mud, the smaller

amount of the fluid loss and this could be the due to the drilling mud with plant material showed decrease in the fluid loss by 72%.

Control mud without any plant or surfactant lost a higher volume (18mL) of water through the filter paper. In water-based mud, loss of fluid or water into the formation may lead to a change that is irreversible in drilling mud properties like rheology and density (Assem *et al.*, 2019). The plant materials or most of the natural components have some properties that give them the ability to be utilized as fluid control agents when formulating drilling mud like tannins, flavonoids, and cellulose as surface-active agents (Brockman, 2016).

4.2.6 Thermal stability test

Successful drilling operation is achieved when used drilling mud is monitored and controlled continuously. Drilling mud properties at the surface environments do not symbolize bottom-hole environment because the properties change due to rising temperatures and aging time at the surface environment. This change in properties of the drilling mud might lead to sequences of downhole environment problems. The thermal stability test for drilling mud rheological properties was carried out at 49°C as this is the standard temperature according to American Petroleum Institute (Indulkar *et al.*, 2018). The mud sample tested for aging had 2% of the plant sample and commercially available surfactant. This concentration was chosen based on the results of rheological properties that were within / close to the recommended values.

4.2.6 .1 Effects of aging on yield point and plastic viscosity of the muds.

Drilling mud must be designed in a way that it should be capable of transporting the cuttings, lubricate and cool the drill bit, to control the formation pressures and maintain hole integrity (Sadeghalvaad and Sabbaghi, 2015). To achieve its goal, drilling mud must

have a balance between having enough plastic viscosity and gel strength which requires a lot of effort to accomplish it (Igwe, 2016). As shown in Appendix 10, the drilling mud's PV decreased after aging at all the temperatures as it was also observed by (Yunita *et al.*, 2016). C2 mud recorded the highest decrease in PV of 84.6% after hot rolling 35°C and 93°C respectively. C1 mud kept its PV at 36cP at aging temperatures of 65°C and 93°C. The PV of C1 increased with aging temperatures which could have been caused by dehydration (Xiong et al., 2019) of the mud but the value was still recommendable. It was also found out that MBL mud's PV was consistently higher than the other formulations with plant material. Drilling mud viscosity is influenced by flocculation on heating which causes the aggregation of the platelets to increase leading to a general reduction in solid volume. This behavior of solid reduction causes the clay aggregates to move freely in the aqueous phase. This lowers the internal friction and when internal friction is reduced, mud viscosity decreases eventually (El-Sukkary et al., 2014) and that could be the cause for the observed changes in the mud properties. After aging at 35°C, PLM mud and MPL mud showed no significance by recording P values of 0.074 and 0.321 respectively while TML and MBL showed the significance of P values of 0.023 and 0.01 respectively. After aging at 93°C, MML, MTL, and MBL showed significance where the PV dropped, but PLM was stable by having P = 0.43.

In Appendix 11, the yield point of the reference mud (C2) experienced a drastic decrease by 97.3% (75 – 2 1b/100ft²). There was a 67.1 % increase in YP of the reference drilling mud (C1) after aging at 93 °C. Mud samples with plant material (MTL, MML, MBL, and MPL), the YP decreased significantly after aging at 65 °C when compared with the YP after aging at 35 °C. It is known that high temperatures increase the YP in WBM (Elochukwu *et al.*, 2017). However, the plants' mud samples were capable of maintaining the YP after aging at 93 °C i.e, there was no significant difference at aging temperatures of 65 °C and 93 °C. The addition of plant samples in the drilling mud was stable even at high test temperatures meaning the plant leaves were efficient. It is reported in the literature that most plants have surface-active agents (S. Jain, 2015) and these agents molecules help the flowing behavior of water-based mud by successfully improving its thermal resistance (Yunita *et al.*, 2016).

4.2.6.2 Effect of aging on gel strength

Appendix 26 shows that all the gel strengths at 10 seconds increased when aged at 35° C excluding that of MPL and MBL that reduced from 6 to 4 1bl/100ft² and 8 to 41bl/100ft² respectively. After aging at 65°C and 93°C, at 10 seconds gel strength, none mud samples with plant leaves recorded gel strength within values that are recommended (2 to 51bl/100ft²). The plant mud samples recorded gel strength values of 0.8, 1.6, 0.6 and 1.31bl/100ft² for MTL, MML, MBL, MPL respectively. At temperatures of 65 and 93°C, the C1 mud sample recorded the highest gel strength (26.8 bl/100ft²) which is undesirable. It was observed that 10 minutes of gel strength of the drilling mud samples reduced with increasing aging temperatures except for control (C1) sample which increased from 5.3 to 55.8 1bl/100ft² after aging at 93°C. For the C1 mud, there was the same trend for 10seconds and 10minutes gel strengths i.e. increase in gel strength with the rise in aging temperatures. It is important to note that high gel strengths are not desirable because it will require high pressures to be able to manage the gel strength and to resume the circulation which might fracture the formation during drilling processes (Li *et al.*, 2016). Gel's

strengths rely on colloidal clays concentrations in the mud and this dependence also applies to YP of the mud (Igwe, 2016).

4.2.6.3 Effect of aging on fluid loss and mud cake

Fluid loss test was done to check if the drilling mud could be able to inhibit the loss of fluid into the formation and making a light filter cake which is thin and less permeable. In Figure 21, the fluid loss was increasing with aging temperatures. MML and MTL mud recorded the lower amount of filtrate loss at corresponding aging temperatures. Control mud (C1) had the highest fluid loss of 18 mL when aged at 93°C while C2 mud lost 16 mL at the same temperature. MBL and PLM muds recorded the highest amount of filtrate loss (12mL) at 93°C when compared to other mud with plant leaves while TML had the lowest volume (5mL) of fluid lost after aging at 35°C. The thinner filter cake is produced by the low permeability of mud cake which results in a lower amount of filtrate loss (Muhsan *et al.*, 2017).

There was a significant difference in the filtration after aging and between control muds (C1 and C2) and mud with plant leaves (test muds) where test mud showed improved filtration loss prevention more than the control mud. The influence of plant leaves in the drilling mud could have affected the thickness and arrangement of the mud cake. Bentonite clay and polymers are unable to keep the honeycomb pattern of the filter cake due to electrolyte contamination. Sodium and potassium ion can be affected by considerable chemical stress which results in to increase in the size of the pores, therefore, allowing fluids to flow into the formation (Mahmoud *et al.*, 2018).

In Figure 22 results of the filter cake formed during the filtration loss test is shown. C2 mud sample recorded the thickest mud cake (5/32 inch) at all aging temperatures. MBL had the same mud cake thickness as C2 after aging at 35°C and reduced after aging at 65 and 93°C (4/32 inches). Thinnest mud of 1/32 inches cake was recorded by the MTL mud at all aging temperatures. MML had the same thickness of 1/32 inches before aging. Mud cake is made on the formation through the fluid loss process. The penetrability of the cake is influenced by the particle size and distribution. An increase in particle size results in a decrease in permeability due to the tightly-packed particles (Xu *et al.*, 2018).

Comparing the fluid loss volume and mud cake formed thickness, it was seen that C2 mud lost a high amount of the fluid and had the thickest mud cake because its cake was too soft and could permit more fluid to pass through. A good mud formulation should maintain the fluid loss to the formation as low as possible and equally, it should not form a thick filter cake. MML had the least fluid loss and smaller filter cake (1/32 inch) which can be caused by less permeability to prevent loss of fluid and should resist high differential overbalance pressure (Bageri *et al.*, 2019). The change in fluid loss volume could be accredited to the clay properties of the filter cake which has control over the physical properties of the filter cakes (Farahbod and Farahmand, 2018). The test mud had different plant materials that tested positive towards saponins. The saponins are surface-active agents with different structures of long molecule chains which could have made the fluid to be more viscous and formed tighter filter cake. Addition of surfactant in the water based drilling mud reduces the fluid loss significantly (Ozkan *et al.*, 2018; Yunita *et al.*, 2016).

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY, CONCLUSION, AND RECOMMENDATIONS

5.1 Summary

In this research work, six different water-based mud were formulated were two of them acted as control mud (C1 and C2) and four of which were formulated using plant leaves (*Carica papaya*-MPL, *Terminalia mantaly* - MTL, *Vernonia amygdalina* - MBL and *Moringa oleifera*-MML). Physicochemical properties of the mud revealed that the plant leaves (*Carica papaya*- PL, *Vernonia amygdalina*- BL, *Terminalia mantaly*- TL and *Moringa oleifera*-ML) had foaming properties where BL had the highest length of the foam and both BL and PL took the longest time for the foam to vanish. The presence of saponins was examined in the plant extracts from different solvents which revealed that all the leaves had saponins. The plant leaves had varied pH with TL having the lowest pH while BL had the highest.

FTIR spectral analysis allowed the identification of the functional groups present in the plant extracts from different solvents. The FTIR results indicated that all the plant extracts had several compounds displayed by various functional groups. Among the functional groups identified in the extracts were; esters, aldehydes, alcohols, phenols, aromatics, amines, carboxylic acids, nitro compounds, and alkanes.

Plastic viscosity of all the mud formulated (with plant leaves and commercially available surfactants) was increasing with concentration but decreased with an increase in temperature were mud with plant leaves had more stability towards temperature. At lower concentrations of plant leaves and commercial surfactants, the YP values were lower compared with the mud without plant leaves or surfactants. MBL mud had higher yield points compared to other mud formulations. The control mud with commercially available surfactant gave lower values of yield points at all testing temperatures and concentrations. The 10 seconds gel strength of the formulated drilling mud remained within the acceptable values at the lower concentration for muds with plant leaves. The control mud (C2) had too high values of gel strength (26 1b/100ft²) at 10seconds which is undesirable after aging at 93°C. The gel strengths after 10 minutes showed that C2 mud could pose problems in drilling processes hence not good formulation because it registered too high values of gel strengths. MML had relatively high gel strengths when compared to the other muds with plant leaves.

Fluid loss test revealed that the plant leaves played a part in preventing the loss of the fluid where MML and MTL had more control over fluid loss hence the plant leaves are good additives as fluid loss control. C1 and C2 recorded a high amount of fluid loss which might lead to sticking of the pipe in the drilling process. Thermal stability of the formulated muds indicated that the mud with plant leaves was thermally stable up to the temperature of 93°C unlike the drilling mud with commercially available surfactant on the PV values. The yield point of the formulated mud with plant leaves decreased with aging temperatures but showed good values after aging at 35°C. MPL mud was affected but could still show higher values of YP than the other formulated muds with plant leaves. The gel strength of C1 mud was highly dehydrated after aging because it gave high gel strength both at 10 seconds and at 10 minutes. Mud with plant leaves showed flat gel strength at all aging temperatures and is a good property during the drilling process since it will not lead to differential pressures down the hole. Fluid loss test showed that after aging, the mud components were degraded causing a surge in the fluid loss. Nevertheless, the mud with plant leaves showed that it

could withstand the testing temperatures because they showed a lower value of fluid loss when compared to the control muds.

5.2 Conclusion

This research work has successfully formulated and characterized mud formulations with four

different additives from the selected plants (*Carica papaya, Moringa oleifera, Terminalia mantaly and Veronia amygdalina*). From this work, the results obtained showed that:

- 1. All the plant leaves improved rheological properties of the formulated muds in comparison with the mud with commercially available surfactants. The MML (mud with *Moringa oleifera* leaves) showed better mud properties than the other muds formulated with the plant leaves.
- 2. Formulated mud with plant leaves reduced the filtration loss by 44.4 %.
- Mud with plant leaves was thermally stable where they had higher values by PV -79%, YP- 96%, Gels strength 10seconds and 10 minutes was 97% and 51 % respective after aging at high temperatures (93°C).
- 4. The FT-IR characterization showed that the plant leaves had various components and the phytochemical screening indicated the presence of saponins which could have led to observed effect in the drilling mud properties.

Following the performance of mud with plant leaves (MML, MTL, MPL, and MBL) that met most of the parameters and even exceeded the performance of the control mud (with commercially available surfactant) suggests that the plant leaves should be considered as an additive of water-based mud.

5.3 Recommendations

It is hereby recommended that further research work be carried out on the;

- toxicity test of the formulated mud with plant leaves additives to determine if they meet the API standards.
- 2. characterization of the active components in the selected plants.

5.4 Contributions to knowledge

- Data on drilling mud properties with selected plant leaves (*Carica papaya Moringa oleifera, Terminalia mantaly, Veronia amygdalina*) as mud additives that have shown better properties over the commercially available surfactant has been documented.
- 2. The viability of these extracts in the drilling process can be used in place of commercially available surfactant since it is eco-friendly.

REFERENCES

- Abdou, M., Al-Sabagh, A., Ahmed, H.E.-S. and Fadl, A. (2018). Impact of barite and ilmenite mixture on enhancing the drilling mud weight. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 27(4), 955-967.
- Abduo, M., Dahab, A., Abuseda, H., AbdulAziz, A.M. and Elhossieny, M. (2016). Comparative study of using water-based mud containing multiwall carbon nanotubes versus oil-based mud in HPHT fields. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 25(4), 459-464.
- Adesina, F., Temitope, O., Victoria, A., Adebowale, O. and Babajide, L. (2018). Evaluation of the Effects of Nanofluid on the Lubricity of Oil-based Mud. *Current Journal of Applied Science and Technology*, 1-9.
- Agin, F., Sharifnik, M.A., Dijvejin, Z.A., Nasiri, A., Valizadeh, M. and Rostamabadi, H.S. (2019). The effect of 1, 6-hexamethylenediamine on thermal stability and shale cutting recovery of heavy weight drilling fluids. *Journal of Petroleum Exploration* and Production Technology, 9(3), 2053-2064.
- Agwu, O.E. and Akpabio, J.U. (2018). Using agro-waste materials as possible filter loss control agents in drilling muds: a review. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 163, 185-198.
- Agwu, O.E., Okon, A.N. and Udoh, F.D. (2015). A comparative study of diesel oil and soybean oil as oil-based drilling mud. *Journal of Petroleum Engineering*, 2015.
- Ahmad, H.M., Kamal, M.S. and Al-Harthi, M.A. (2018). Rheological and filtration properties of clay-polymer systems: Impact of polymer structure. *Applied Clay Science*, *160*, 226-237.
- Ahmadi, M.A., Galedarzadeh, M. and Shadizadeh, S.R. (2017). Spotlight on the use of new natural surfactants in colloidal gas aphron (CGA) fluids: A mechanistic study. *The European Physical Journal Plus*, *132*(12), 519.
- Ahmadi, M.A., Shadizadeh, S.R., Shah, K. and Bahadori, A. (2018). An accurate model to predict drilling fluid density at wellbore conditions. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 27(1), 1-10.
- Ahmed, F., Tunio, A.H., Memon, K.R., Aziz, H. and Khan, J. (2018). Effect of Bore Hole Temperature on Density and Viscosity of Oil Base Drilling Fluid.
- Ajuru, M.G., Williams, L.F. and Ajuru, G. (2017). Qualitative and quantitative phytochemical screening of some plants used in ethnomedicine in the Niger Delta region of Nigeria. *Journal of Food and Nutrition Sciences*, 5(5), 198-205.

- Akpan, E.U., Enyi, G.C., Nasr, G., Yahaya, A.A., Ahmadu, A.A. and Saidu, B. (2019). Water-based drilling fluids for high-temperature applications and water-sensitive and dispersible shale formations. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*.
- Al-Ajmi, A., Al-Rushoud, A., Gohain, A., Khatib, F.I., Al-Naqa, F., Al-Mutawa, F., Al-Gharib, M., Birthariya, S., Mago, A. and Al-Mekhlef, A. (2018). Commingle Zubair Shale Sand Sequences by Using Deformable Sealing Polymer in Customized Drilling Fluid, Case Histories from Kuwait. Paper presented at the Offshore Technology Conference Asia.
- Al-Maamary, H.M., Kazem, H.A. and Chaichan, M.T. (2017). The impact of oil price fluctuations on common renewable energies in GCC countries. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 75, 989-1007.
- Al-Mahdawi, F.H. and Saad, K. (2018). Enhancement of Drilling Fluid Properties Using Nanoparticles. *Iraqi Journal of Chemical and Petroleum Engineering*, 19(2), 21-26.
- Al-Sabagh, A., El-Awamri, A., Abdou, M., Hussien, H., El Fatah, H.A. and Rasmy, W. (2016). Egyptian diatomite as high fluid loss squeeze slurry in sealing fractures and high permeable formation. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 25(3), 409-421.
- Al-Yasiri, M.S. and Al-Sallami, W.T. (2015). How the drilling fluids can be made more efficient by using nanomaterials. *American Journal of Nano research and applications*, 3(3), 41-45.
- Al Yami, A.S., Ramasamy, J. and Wagle, V. (2017). Chemical additives for oil well cementing. *Research & Reviews: journal of chemistry*, 6(4), 1-14.
- Alara, O.R., Abdurahman, N.H., Ukaegbu, C.I. and Kabbashi, N.A. (2019). Extraction and characterization of bioactive compounds in Vernonia amygdalina leaf ethanolic extract comparing Soxhlet and microwave-assisted extraction techniques. *Journal* of Taibah University for Science, 13(1), 414-422.
- Alkamil, E., Abbas, A. and Flori, R. (2018). Lab-Scale Real-Time Mud pH and EC Monitoring System while Drilling in Hydrogen Sulfide Formations. Paper presented at the 2018 AADE Fluids Technical Conference and Exhibition.
- Amanullah, A. (2016). A Multiple Contaminant Tolerant and Eco-Friendly Water-Based Mud System for Superior Down Hole Performance. Paper presented at the Abu Dhabi International Petroleum Exhibition & Conference.
- Amanullah, M. and Ramasamy, J. (2019). Novel Eco-friendly Additives for Aqueous and Non-aqueous Fluid Design. J. Chem, 13, 62-75.
- Amosa, M., Mohammed, I. and Yaro, S. (2010). Sulphide scavengers in oil and gas industry-A review. *Nafta*, 61(2), 85-98.

- Anifowose, F., Adeniye, S., Abdulraheem, A. and Al-Shuhail, A. (2016). Integrating seismic and log data for improved petroleum reservoir properties estimation using non-linear feature-selection based hybrid computational intelligence models. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 145, 230-237.
- Assem, A., Kumar, H., Nasr-El-Din, H. and De Wolf, C. (2019). Location and magnitude of formation damage due to iron precipitation during acidizing carbonate rocks. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 179, 337-354.
- Avci, E. and Mert, B.A. (2019). The Rheology and Performance of Geothermal Spring Water-Based Drilling Fluids. *Geofluids*, 2019.
- Azar, J. (2015). PEH: Drilling Problems and solutions. In: PetroWiki.
- Aziz, H., Khan, M.J. and Ahmed, F. (2018). Efficient Reuse of Drilling Mud in Minimizing Frictional Pressure Losses.
- Bageri, B.S., Benaafi, M., Mahmoud, M., Patil, S., Mohamed, A. and Elkatatny, S. (2019). Effect of Arenite, Calcareous, Argillaceous, and Ferruginous Sandstone Cuttings on Filter Cake and Drilling Fluid Properties in Horizontal Wells. *Geofluids*, 2019.
- Barry, M.M., Jung, Y., Lee, J.-K., Phuoc, T.X. and Chyu, M.K. (2015). Fluid filtration and rheological properties of nanoparticle additive and intercalated clay hybrid bentonite drilling fluids. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 127, 338-346.
- Bisong, S., Nku, O., Nwoke, U. and Osim, E. (2018). Crude aqueous leave extract of carica papaya linn (pawpaw) reduced anxiety and fear related behaviour in cd1 mice. *European journal of pharmaceutical and medical research*, *5*(3), 488-493.
- Bloys, B., Davis, N., Smolen, B., Bailey, L., Houwen, O., Reid, P., Sherwood, J., Fraser, L. and Hodder, M. (1994). Designing and managing drilling fluid. *Oilfield Review*, 6(2), 33-43.
- Brockman, H. (2016). *Renewable chemicals and bioproducts: a potential for agricultural diversification and economic development*: Department of Agriculture and Food.
- Campostrini, E., Schaffer, B., Ramalho, J.D., González, J.C., Rodrigues, W.P., da Silva, J.R. and Lima, R.S. (2018). Environmental Factors Controlling Carbon Assimilation, Growth, and Yield of Papaya (Carica papaya L.) Under Water-Scarcity Scenarios. In *Water scarcity and sustainable agriculture in semiarid environment* (pp. 481-505): Elsevier.
- Choudhary, M.M.B., Thakur, M.N.G., Gurav, M.R.C. and Dalvi, M.R.A. (2018). Fabrication of Fuel Burner for Re-Using Automobile Engine Oil. *International Journal on Recent Technologies in Mechanical and Electrical Engineering*, 5(9), 01-03.

- Christensen, C.M. (2017). Perception of solution viscosity. In *Food Texture* (pp. 129-143): Routledge.
- Cimanga Kanyanga, R., Malika Bool-Miting, F., Tona Lutete, G., Kambu Kabangu, O., Vlietinck, A. and Pieters, L. (2018). Antibacterial screening of aqueous extracts of some medicinal plant and their fractions used as antidiarrheal agents in Kinshasa-Democratic Republic of Congo. World journal of pharmacy and pharmaceutical sciences, 7(1), 223-242.
- Dardir, M., Mohamed, D., Farag, A., Ramdan, A. and Fayad, M. (2017). Preparation and evaluation of cationic bolaform surfactants for water-based drilling fluids. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 26(1), 67-77.
- Dhimmar, N., Patel, N.M., Gajera, V. and Lambole, V. (2015). Pharmacological activities of Moringa oleifera: an overview. *Research Journal of Pharmacy and Technology*, 8(4), 476-480.
- Dias, F., Souza, R. and Lucas, E. (2015). Influence of modified starches composition on their performance as fluid loss additives in invert-emulsion drilling fluids. *Fuel*, *140*, 711-716.
- Ebikapaye, J. (2018). Effects Of Temperature On The Density Of Water Based Drilling Mud. Journal of Applied Sciences and Environmental Management, 22(3), 406-408.
- Eka, E.C.L., Dadang, D., Manuwoto, S.M. and Syahbirin, G.S. (2017). Formulation of Mixed Extracts of Tephrosia vogelii and Piper aduncum.
- Ekeinde, E.B., Okoro, E.E., Dosunmu, A. and Iyuke, S. (2019). Optimizing aqueous drilling mud system viscosity with green additives. *Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology*, 9(1), 315-318.
- El-Rafie, H.M. and Hamed, M.A.-A. (2014). Antioxidant and anti-inflammatory activities of silver nanoparticles biosynthesized from aqueous leaves extracts of four Terminalia species. Advances in Natural Sciences: Nanoscience and Nanotechnology, 5(3), 035008.
- El-Sukkary, M., Ghuiba, F., Sayed, G., Abdou, M., Badr, E., Tawfik, S. and Negm, N. (2014). Evaluation of some vanillin-modified polyoxyethylene surfactants as additives for water based mud. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 23(1), 7-14.
- El-Sayed, R. and Ahmed, S.A. (2016). Synthesis of some new thiazole, oxazole, pyrimidine and pyridazine derivatives from 2-cyano-N-octadecyl-acetamide as antimicrobial and surface active agents. *Journal of Heterocyclic Chemistry*, 53(1), 121-128.
- Elkatatny, S. (2019). Enhancing the Rheological Properties of Water-Based Drilling Fluid Using Micronized Starch. *Arabian Journal for Science and Engineering*, 1-10.

- Elkatatny, S., Kamal, M.S., Alakbari, F. and Mahmoud, M. (2018). Optimizing the rheological properties of water-based drilling fluid using clays and nanoparticles for drilling horizontal and multi-lateral wells. *Applied Rheology*, 28(4).
- Elochukwu, H., Gholami, R. and Dol, S.S. (2017). An approach to improve the cuttings carrying capacity of nanosilica based muds. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 152, 309-316.
- Epikhin, A.V., Ushakov, A., Barztaikin, V., Melnikov, V. and Ulyanova, O.S. (2015). Experimental research of drilling mud influence on mud motor mechanical rubber components. Paper presented at the IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science. Vol. 27: Problems of Geology and Subsurface Development.—United Kingdom, 2015.
- Ezeakacha, C., Salehi, S. and Hayatdavoudi, A. (2017). Experimental study of drilling Fluid's filtration and mud cake evolution in sandstone formations. *Journal of Energy Resources Technology*, 139(2), 022912.
- Fadare, O., Durosinmi, O., Fadare, R., Izevbekhai, O., Awonyemi, I.O. and Obafemi, C.A. (2015). ATR-FTIR and HPLC spectroscopic studies and evaluation of mineral content of Carica papaya leaves and flowers.
- Fakoya, M.F. and Ahmed, R.M. (2018). A generalized model for apparent viscosity of oilbased muds. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 165, 777-785.
- Farahbod, F. and Farahmand, S. (2018). Experimental and Theoretical Evaluation of Amount of Removed Oily Hydrocarbon, Aromatic and Bioassay of Drilling Fluid by Zinc Oxide Nano Coagulant. *Journal of Nanofluids*, 7(2), 223-234.
- Farhat, W. (2018). Investigation of hemicellulose biomaterial approaches: the extraction and modification of hemicellulose and its use in value-added applications.
- Fasya, A.G., Baderos, A., Madjid, A.D.R., Amalia, S. and Megawati, D.S. (2019). Isolation, identification and bioactivity of steroids compounds from red algae Eucheuma cottonii petroleum ether fraction. Paper presented at the AIP Conference Proceedings.
- Fattah, K. and Lashin, A. (2016). Investigation of mud density and weighting materials effect on drilling fluid filter cake properties and formation damage. *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 117, 345-357.
- Fawole, F.J., Sahu, N., Jain, K., Gupta, S., Rajendran, K., Shamna, N. and Poojary, N. (2017). Haemato-biochemical, non-specific immunity, antioxidant capacity and histopathological changes in Labeo rohita fingerlings fed rubber protein isolate. *Fish physiology and biochemistry*, 43(3), 677-690.

- Feng, Y. and Gray, K. (2017). Review of fundamental studies on lost circulation and wellbore strengthening. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 152, 511-522.
- Feng, Y., Jones, J.F. and Gray, K. (2016). A review on fracture-initiation and-propagation pressures for lost circulation and wellbore strengthening. SPE Drilling & Completion, 31(02), 134-144.
- Fereydouni, M., Sabbaghi, S., Saboori, R. and Zeinali, S. (2012). Effect of polyanionic cellulose polymer nanoparticles on rheological properties of drilling mud. *International Journal of Nanoscience and Nanotechnology*, 8(3), 171-174.
- Fink, J. (2015). *Petroleum engineer's guide to oil field chemicals and fluids*: Gulf Professional Publishing.
- Galindo, K.A., Zha, W., Zhou, H. and Deville, J.P. (2015). *High temperature, high performance water-based drilling fluid for extreme high temperature wells.* Paper presented at the SPE International Symposium on Oilfield Chemistry.
- Ghahfarokhi, A.K., Dadashi, A., Daryasafar, A. and Moghadasi, J. (2015). Feasibility study of new natural leaf-derived surfactants on the IFT in an oil-aqueous system: experimental investigation. *Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology*, 5(4), 375-382.
- Ghazali, N., Sauki, A., Bakar, N.A. and Mohamed, S. (2018). Oil Palm Empty Fruit Bunch (OPEFB) Fiber as Lost Circulation Material (LCM) in Water Based Mud (WBM).
 Paper presented at the IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering.
- Gholami, R., Elochukwu, H., Fakhari, N. and Sarmadivaleh, M. (2018). A review on borehole instability in active shale formations: interactions, mechanisms and inhibitors. *Earth-science reviews*, 177, 2-13.
- Ghosh, P. and Mohanty, K.K. (2019). Study of surfactant alternating gas injection (SAG) in gas-flooded oil-wet, low permeability carbonate rocks. *Fuel*, *251*, 260-275.
- Ghosn, R., Mihelic, F., Hochepied, J.-F. and Dalmazzone, D. (2017). Silica nanoparticles for the stabilization of W/O emulsions at HTHP conditions for unconventional reserves drilling operations. *Oil & Gas Science and Technology–Revue d'IFP Energies nouvelles*, 72(4), 21.
- Gichora, M., Kojwang, H. and Bosu, P. (2017). The status and trends of forest.
- Gogoi, S.B. and Tamuli, A.S. (2019). Recent advances in treating oil field produced water: a review. *Journal of Petroleum Engineering & Technology*, 4(2), 1-6.

- Haddad, M., AL-Aleeli, A.R., Zaheer, B., Ruzhnikov, A., Husien, M. and Marinescu, P. (2017). Drilling of Challenging ERD Wells with Water-Based Mud: How to Significantly Reduce Torque and Drag by New Generation Lubricant. Paper presented at the Abu Dhabi International Petroleum Exhibition & Conference.
- He, S., Liang, L., Zeng, Y., Ding, Y., Lin, Y. and Liu, X. (2016). The influence of waterbased drilling fluid on mechanical property of shale and the wellbore stability. *Petroleum*, 2(1), 61-66.
- Hess, J.L. (2017). Vitamin E, α-tocopherol. In *Antioxidants in higher plants* (pp. 111-134): CRC Press.
- Hilfiger, M.G., Thaemlitz, C.J. and Moellendick, E. (2017). *Advanced Spotting Fluids for Remediation of Differentially Stuck Pipe*. Paper presented at the SPE Middle East Oil & Gas Show and Conference.
- Hill, C. and Eastoe, J. (2017). Foams: From nature to industry. *Advances in colloid and interface science*, 247, 496-513.
- Hoffmann, J., Juan, W. and Miroux, A. (2015). Developments in international seaborne trade. United Nations Publ., pp. 1e28 [online] Available from: <u>http://unctad.org/en/pages/PublicationWebflyer.aspx</u>.
- Hossain, M.E. and Apaleke, A. (2015). An overview of mud technology and challenges toward greening of drilling fluid. *Environmental Engineering & Management Journal (EEMJ)*, 14(12).
- Hossain, M.E. and Islam, M.R. (2018). Drilling Engineering Problems and Solutions: A Field Guide for Engineers and Students: John Wiley & Sons.
- Hossain, M.E. and Wajheeuddin, M. (2016). The use of grass as an environmentally friendly additive in water-based drilling fluids. *Petroleum Science*, 13(2), 292-303.
- Hosseini, E., Mozafari, H.R., Hojjatoleslamy, M. and Rousta, E. (2017). Influence of temperature, pH and salts on rheological properties of bitter almond gum. *Food Science and Technology*, *37*(3), 437-443.
- Hosseini, P. (2017). Estimation of lost circulation amount occurs during under balanced drilling using drilling data and neural network. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 26(3), 627-634.
- Huo, W.-L., Qi, F., Zhang, X.-Y., Ma, N., Gan, K., Qu, Y.-N., Xu, J. and Yang, J.-L. (2016). Ultralight alumina ceramic foams with single-grain wall using sodium dodecyl sulfate as long-chain surfactant. *Journal of the European Ceramic Society*, 36(16), 4163-4170.

- Ibrahim, D.S., Sami, N.A. and Balasubramanian, N. (2017). Effect of barite and gas oil drilling fluid additives on the reservoir rock characteristics. *Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology*, 7(1), 281-292.
- Igwe, I.K. (2016). *Enhancing the Performance of Ubakala Clay for use as Drilling Mud.* Federal University of Technology, Owerri,
- Ihenacho, P., Burby, M. L., Nasr, G. G., & Enyi, G. C. (2016). 50/50 Oil-water ratio invert emulsion drilling mud using vegetable oil as continuous phase. *International Journal of Chemical, Molecular, Nuclear, Materials and Metallurgical Engineering*, 10(3), 239-242.
- Indulkar, S., Thakur, S., Asrani, M., Singh, A.K., Gupta, V. and Patel, A. (2018). Advances in Non-Aqueous Drilling Fluid Formulations Society of Petroleum Engineers Through Innovative Surfactant Technology. Paper presented at the SPE Kingdom of Saudi Arabia Annual Technical Symposium and Exhibition.
- Inemugha, O., Chukwuma, F., Akaranta, O. and Ajienka, J.A. (2019). *Rheological Properties of Terminalia Mantaly Exudate as Drilling Mud Additive.* Paper presented at the SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition.
- Isaac Prince, E., Dosunmu, A. and Anyanwu, C. (2019). Laboratory Study of Oil Palm Kernel Shells and Mangrove Plant Fiber Banana Trunk Fiber as Lost Circulation Materials in Synthetic Based Drilling Mud. Paper presented at the SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition.
- Jafarnezhad, M., Giri, M.S. and Alizadeh, M. (2017). Impact of SnO2 nanoparticles on enhanced oil recovery from carbonate media. *Energy Sources, Part A: Recovery, Utilization, and Environmental Effects, 39*(1), 121-128.
- Jain, A., Joshi, A., Joshi, J., Tatawat, M., Saeed, S., Telang, S., Choubey, Y. and Puri, P. (2019). Comparative study of phytochemical screening and antibacterial activity of four medicinal plants. *Journal of Medicinal Plants*, 7(4), 81-89.
- Jain, S. (2015). Medicinal plants with potential anti-fertility activity: A review. *International Journal of Green Pharmacy (IJGP)*, 9(4).
- Jassim, L., Yunus, R., Rashid, S.A. and Salleh, A. (2018). Potential of Ethylhexyl Ester Oil to Enhance Drilling of HTHP Wellbores. *Engineering and Technology Journal*, 36(1 Part (C)), 30-37.
- Jefferson, M. (2016). A global energy assessment. *Wiley Interdisciplinary Reviews: Energy and Environment, 5*(1), 7-15.

- Juárez-Rojop, I.E., A Tovilla-Zárate, C., Aguilar-Domínguez, D.E., Lobato-García, C.E., Blé-Castillo, J.L., López-Meraz, L., Díaz-Zagoya, J.C. and Bermúdez-Ocaña, D.Y. (2014). Phytochemical screening and hypoglycemic activity of Carica papaya leaf in streptozotocin-induced diabetic rats. *Revista Brasileira de Farmacognosia*, 24(3), 341-347.
- Kania, D., Yunus, R., Omar, R., Rashid, S.A. and Jan, B.M. (2015). A review of biolubricants in drilling fluids: Recent research, performance, and applications. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 135, 177-184.
- Kassim, U. and Yong, S.A. (2017). *Industrialised Building System (IBS): Lightweight Organic Brick from Rice Husks.* Paper presented at the International Research Symposium Series (IRSS).
- Khaleghian, H., Molaverdi, M. and Karimi, K. (2017). Silica removal from rice straw to improve its hydrolysis and ethanol production. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, *56*(35), 9793-9798.
- Khan, A. and Butt, A. (2016). Biosurfactants and their potential applications for microbes and mankind: an overview. *Middle East Journal of Business*, 55(3034), 1-10.
- Khaw, K.-Y., Parat, M.-O., Shaw, P.N., Nguyen, T.T., Pandey, S., Thurecht, K.J. and Falconer, J.R. (2019). Factorial design-assisted supercritical carbon-dioxide extraction of cytotoxic active principles from Carica papaya leaf juice. *Scientific reports*, 9(1), 1716.
- Khoozani, A.A., Birch, J. and Bekhit, A.E.-D.A. (2019). Production, application and health effects of banana pulp and peel flour in the food industry. *Journal of food science and technology*, *56*(2), 548-559.
- Kim, J. (2017). Surface display of lipolytic enzyme, Lipase A and Lipase B of Bacillus subtilis on the Bacillus subtilis spore. *Biotechnology and Bioprocess Engineering*, 22(4), 462-468.
- Lambert, M., AlMuftah, A., Yousif, M., Barni, S., Ai, G. and Zhang, E. (2018). Reservoir Modeling and Simulation for Thermal Oil Recovery in Fractured Karst Carbonates in Bahrain. Paper presented at the SPE EOR Conference at Oil and Gas West Asia.
- Langevin, D. (2017). Aqueous foams and foam films stabilised by surfactants. Gravity-free studies. *Comptes Rendus Mécanique*, 345(1), 47-55.
- Le Merrer, M., Cohen-Addad, S. and Höhler, R. (2013). Duration of bubble rearrangements in a coarsening foam probed by time-resolved diffusing-wave spectroscopy: Impact of interfacial rigidity. *Physical Review E*, 88(2), 022303.
- Lee, S.Y., Kim, H.U., Chae, T.U., Cho, J.S., Kim, J.W., Shin, J.H., Kim, D.I., Ko, Y.-S., Jang, W.D. and Jang, Y.-S. (2019). A comprehensive metabolic map for production of bio-based chemicals. *Nature Catalysis*, 2(1), 18.

- Li, Z., Vandenbossche, J., Iannacchione, A., Brigham, J. and Kutchko, B. (2016). Theorybased review of limitations with static gel strength in cement/matrix characterization. *SPE Drilling & Completion*, *31*(02), 145-158.
- LIU, F., WANG, Y.-I., JIN, J.-f., REN, J.-h., LIANG, H., WANG, K. and ZHANG, Y. (2016). Reversible Invert Emulsion: a Review. *Science Technology and Engineering*, 16(9), 113-124.
- Liu, K., Cheng, X., Zhang, X., Guo, X. and Zhuang, J. (2018). Design of low-density cement optimized by cellulose-based fibre for oil and natural gas wells. *Powder technology*, *338*, 506-518.
- Ma, B., Pu, X., Zhao, Z., Wang, H. and Dong, W. (2019). Laboratory study on core fracturing simulations for wellbore strengthening. *Geofluids*, 2019.
- Ma, J., Yu, P., Xia, B., An, Y. and Wang, Z. (2019). Synthesis of a biodegradable and environmental-friendly shale inhibitor based on chitosan grafted L-arginine for wellbore stability and the mechanism study. *ACS Applied Bio Materials*.
- Ma, Z., Vajargah, A.K., Chen, D., van Oort, E., May, R., MacPherson, J., Becker, G. and Curry, D. (2018). *Gas kicks in non-aqueous drilling fluids: a well control challenge*. Paper presented at the IADC/SPE Drilling Conference and Exhibition.
- Madjos, G.G. and Luceño, A.M. (2019). Comparative Cytotoxic Properties of Two Varieties of Carica papaya leaf extracts from Mindanao, Philippines using Brine Shrimp Lethality Assay. *Bull. Env. Pharmacol. Life Sci*, 8, 113-118.
- Mahmoud, O., Nasr-El-Din, H.A., Vryzas, Z. and Kelessidis, V. (2018). Effect of ferric oxide nanoparticles on the properties of filter cake formed by calcium bentonite-based drilling muds. *SPE Drilling & Completion*.
- Majid, N.F.F., Katende, A., Ismail, I., Sagala, F., Sharif, N.M. and Yunus, M.A.C. (2019). A comprehensive investigation on the performance of durian rind as a lost circulation material in water based drilling mud. *Petroleum*, 5(3), 285-294.
- Mao, H., Qiu, Z., Shen, Z. and Huang, W. (2015). Hydrophobic associated polymer based silica nanoparticles composite with core-shell structure as a filtrate reducer for drilling fluid at utra-high temperature. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 129, 1-14.
- Martel, A., Leusheva, E. and Morenov, V. (2018). Investigation of the Fractional Composition Effect of the Carbonate Weighting Agents on the Rheology of the Clayless Drilling Mud. *International Journal of Engineering*, *31*(7), 1152-1158.
- Mbouna, C.D., Kouipou, R.M., Keumoe, R., Tchokouaha, L.R., Fokou, P.V., Tali, B.M., Sahal, D. and Boyom, F.F. (2018). Potent antiplasmodial extracts and fractions from Terminalia mantaly and Terminalia superba. *Malaria journal*, 17(1), 142.

- Mohammadinejad, R., Shavandi, A., Raie, D.S., Sangeetha, J., Soleimani, M., Hajibehzad, S.S., Thangadurai, D., Hospet, R., Popoola, J.O. and Arzani, A. (2019). Plant molecular farming: production of metallic nanoparticles and therapeutic proteins using green factories. *Green chemistry*, 21(8), 1845-1865.
- Mohammed, A.S. (2017). Effect of temperature on the rheological properties with shear stress limit of iron oxide nanoparticle modified bentonite drilling muds. *Egyptian Journal of Petroleum*, 26(3), 791-802.
- Muhsan, A.S., Mohamed, N.M., Siddiqui, U. and Shahid, M.U. (2017). Nano Additives in Water Based Drilling Fluid for Enhanced-Performance Fluid-Loss-Control. In *ICIPEG 2016* (pp. 669-675): Springer.
- Muntaha, S.-T. and Khan, M.N. (2015). Natural surfactant extracted from Sapindus mukurossi as an eco-friendly alternate to synthetic surfactant–a dye surfactant interaction study. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 93, 145-150.
- Needaa, A.-M., Pourafshary, P., Hamoud, A.-H. and Jamil, A. (2016). Controlling bentonite-based drilling mud properties using sepiolite nanoparticles. *Petroleum Exploration and Development*, 43(4), 717-723.
- Negm, N.A., Tawfik, S.M., Abdou, M.I., Badr, E.A. and Ghuiba, F.M. (2015). Evaluation of some nonionic surfactants derived from tannic acid as additives for water-based mud. *Journal of Surfactants and Detergents*, *18*(2), 309-319.
- Neshat, J. and Shadizadeh, S.R. (2016). Evaluation of a Naturally-derived Deflocculant (Terminalia Chebula) in Bentonite Dispersions. *Iranian Journal of Oil & Gas Science and Technology*, 5(2), 21-44.
- Nmegbu, C.G.J. and Bekee, B. (2014). Evaluation of corn cob cellulose and its suitability for drilling mud formulation. *International Journal of Engineering Research and Applications*, 4(5), 112-117.
- Ogidi, O.I., George, D.G. and Esie, N.G. (2019). Ethnopharmacological properties of Vernonia amygdalina (Bitter Leave) medicinal plant. *Journal of Medicinal Plants*, 7(2), 175-181.
- Ojewumi, M., Kayode, G., Omoleye, J. and Oyekunle, D. (2019). Statistical optimization and sensitivity analysis of rheological models using cassava starch. *International Journal of Civil Engineering and Technology (IJCIET)*, 10(1), 623-639.
- Oko, O., Aremu, M., Odoh, R., Magomya, A. and Abutu, D. (2015). A comparative assessment of the fatty acid and phospholipid composition of Irvingia gabonensis (African wild mango) and Citrullus lanatus (Water Melon) seed oils. *Journal of Natural Sciences Research*, 5(18), 1-7.

- Okoro, E.E., Dosunmu, A., Oriji, B. and Iyuke, S. (2015). *Impact of reversible Invert emulsion drilling fluid rheology on productivity*. Paper presented at the SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition.
- Okunlola, G.O., Jimoh, M.A., Olatunji, O.A., Rufai, A.B. and Omidiran, A.O. (2019). Proximate analysis, mineral composition, and antioxidant properties of bitter leaf and scent leaf. *International Journal of Vegetable Science*, 25(4), 346-354.
- Oladunmoye, M., Afolami, O., Oladejo, B., Amoo, I. and Osho, B. (2019). Identification and Quantification of Bioactive Compounds Present in the Plant Vernonia amygdalina Delile using GC-MS Technique. *Nat Prod Chem Res*, 7(356), 2.
- Olaitan, O.M., Orodu, O. and Ehinmowo, A. (2017). Experimental Investigation of Limonene-based Environmental-Friendly Emulsion Drilling Mud.
- Olise, O.S., Ekaette, N. and Okologume, W. (2017). Effect of Aging on Water Based Mud. *International Journal of Engineering and Modern technology*, *3*(5), 26-38.
- Omotioma, M., Ejikeme, P. and Ume, J. (2015). Improving the rheological properties of water based mud with the addition of cassava starch. *IOSR Journal of Applied Chemistry (IOSR-JAC), 8*(8), 70-73.
- Oriji, A.B., Lawal, F. and Bala, Z. (2014). Evaluating the efficiency of Nigerian local bentonite as an extender in oil well cementation. *Chem. Process Eng. Res*, 28, 78-88.
- Oseh, J.O., Norddin, M.M., Ismail, I., Ismail, A.R., Gbadamosi, A.O. and Agi, A. (2019). Effect of the surface charge of entrapped polypropylene at nanosilica-composite on cuttings transport capacity of water-based muds. *Applied Nanoscience*, 1-22.
- Ozkan, A., Turan, S.E. and Kaplan, B.M. (2018). Investigation of Fly Ash Effect on Rheological and Filtration Properties of Drilling Muds. *Fresenius environmental bulletin*, 27(12 A), 9189-9194.
- Padayachee, B. and Baijnath, H. (2019). An updated comprehensive review of the medicinal, phytochemical and pharmacological properties of Moringa oleifera. *South African Journal of Botany*.
- Pakdaman, E., Osfouri, S., Azin, R., Niknam, K. and Roohi, A. (2019). Improving the rheology, lubricity, and differential sticking properties of water-based drilling muds at high temperatures using hydrophilic Gilsonite nanoparticles. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 582, 123930.
- Parizad, A., Shahbazi, K. and Tanha, A.A. (2018). Enhancement of polymeric water-based drilling fluid properties using nanoparticles. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 170, 813-828.

- Patel, R.S., Weibel, J.A. and Garimella, S.V. (2017). Mechanistic modeling of the liquid film shape and heat transfer coefficient in annular-regime microchannel flow boiling. *International Journal of Heat and Mass Transfer*, 114, 841-851.
- Pelser, J.G. (2018). Screening environmental actinobacteria for antimycobacterial antibiotics and characterisation of Kribbella stellenboschensis sp. nov. University of Cape Town,
- Perry, C.A., Daigle, G. and Burgess, D.E. (2019). Downhole drilling tools and connection system for same. In: Google Patents.
- Prasetya, A., Mursiti, S., Maryan, S. and Jati, N. (2018). Isolation and Identification of Active Compounds from Papaya Plants and Activities as Antimicrobial. Paper presented at the IOP Conference Series: Materials Science and Engineering.
- Raheem, A.M. (2018). Study the fluid loss and rheological behaviors of bentonite drilling mud contaminated with salt and used motor oil. *Petroleum & Coal*, 60(6).
- Rana, A., Arfaj, M.K. and Saleh, T.A. (2019). Advanced developments in shale inhibitors for oil production with low environmental footprints–A review. *Fuel*, 247, 237-249.
- Ranjan, P. and Dutta, A. (2017). Comparative analysis of barite and hematite used in waterbased drilling fluid. *International Journal of Development Research*, 7(11), 16806-16814.
- Rieger, M.M. (2017). Surfactant chemistry and classification. In *Surfactants in cosmetics* (pp. 21-48): Routledge.
- Rio, E., Drenckhan, W., Salonen, A. and Langevin, D. (2014). Unusually stable liquid foams. *Advances in colloid and interface science*, 205, 74-86.
- Roustaei, A., Gosselin, A. and Frigaard, I. (2015). Residual drilling mud during conditioning of uneven boreholes in primary cementing. Part 1: Rheology and geometry effects in non-inertial flows. *Journal of Non-Newtonian fluid mechanics*, 220, 87-98.
- Sadeghalvaad, M. and Sabbaghi, S. (2015). The effect of the TiO2/polyacrylamide nanocomposite on water-based drilling fluid properties. *Powder technology*, 272, 113-119.
- Salih, A. and Bilgesu, H. (2017). *Investigation of rheological and filtration properties of water-based drilling fluids using various anionic nanoparticles*. Paper presented at the SPE Western Regional Meeting.
- Samavati, R., Abdullah, N., Tahmasbi Nowtarki, K., Hussain, S. and Awang Biak, D. (2014). The prospect of utilizing a cassava derivative (fufu) as a fluid loss agent in water based drilling muds. *Int. J. Chem. Eng. Appl, 5*(2), 161-168.

- Scrivener, K., Martirena, F., Bishnoi, S. and Maity, S. (2018). Calcined clay limestone cements (LC3). *Cement and Concrete Research*, 114, 49-56.
- Seteyeobot, I., Uma, J.A. and Enaworu, E. (2017). Experimental Study of the Possible use of Locally Derived Plantain Peelings and Rice Husk as Additives for Oil Based Mud at High Temperature-High Pressure Conditions. Paper presented at the SPE Nigeria Annual International Conference and Exhibition.
- Shadizadeh, S.R., Moslemizadeh, A. and Dezaki, A.S. (2015). A novel nonionic surfactant for inhibiting shale hydration. *Applied Clay Science*, *118*, 74-86.
- Shahmirzaee, M., Hemmati-Sarapardeh, A., Husein, M.M., Schaffie, M. and Ranjbar, M. (2019). A review on zeolitic imidazolate frameworks use for crude oil spills cleanup. Advances in Geo-Energy Research, 3(3), 320-342.
- Shaikh, S.M., Nasser, M.S., Hussein, I., Benamor, A., Onaizi, S.A. and Qiblawey, H. (2017). Influence of polyelectrolytes and other polymer complexes on the flocculation and rheological behaviors of clay minerals: A comprehensive review. *Separation and Purification Technology*, 187, 137-161.
- Sharma, A.K., Saxena, M. and Sharma, R. (2018). Surface active properties and micellar features of copper soaps derived from various edible oils. *The Open Chemistry Journal*, 5(1).
- Shettigar, R.R., Misra, N.M. and Patel, K. (2018). Cationic surfactant (CTAB) a multipurpose additive in polymer-based drilling fluids. *Journal of Petroleum Exploration and Production Technology*, 8(2), 597-606.
- Soares, C.C., de Andrade, A.S.A., Ferreira, G.F.D., Druzian, J.I. and Lobato, A.K.d.C.L. (2018). Biosurfactant production by Bacillus subtilis UFPEDA 86 using papaya (Carica papaya L.) waste as substrate: Viability studies and pH influence of the culture medium. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 17(30), 928-937.
- Song, K., Wu, Q., Li, M., Ren, S., Dong, L., Zhang, X., Lei, T. and Kojima, Y. (2016). Water-based bentonite drilling fluids modified by novel biopolymer for minimizing fluid loss and formation damage. *Colloids and Surfaces A: Physicochemical and Engineering Aspects*, 507, 58-66.
- Spalding-Fecher, R., Senatla, M., Yamba, F., Lukwesa, B., Himunzowa, G., Heaps, C., Chapman, A., Mahumane, G., Tembo, B. and Nyambe, I. (2017). Electricity supply and demand scenarios for the Southern African power pool. *Energy Policy*, 101, 403-414.
- Stuckman, M.Y., Lopano, C.L., Berry, S.M. and Hakala, J.A. (2019). Geochemical Solid Characterization of Drill Cuttings, Core and Drilling Mud from Marcellus Shale Energy Development. *Journal of Natural Gas Science and Engineering*, 102922.

- Student, S. (2017). Environmentally friendly fluid loss control agent in water-based mud for oil and gas drilling operations. *International Journal of Applied Engineering Research*, 12(8), 1520-1523.
- Sulaimon, A.A., Adeyemi, B.J. and Rahimi, M. (2017). Performance enhancement of selected vegetable oil as base fluid for drilling HPHT formation. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 152, 49-59.
- Szwagrzyk, J., Gazda, A., Dobrowolska, D., Chećko, E., Zaremba, J. and Tomski, A. (2017). Tree mortality after wind disturbance differs among tree species more than among habitat types in a lowland forest in northeastern Poland. *Forest Ecology and Management, 398*, 174-184.
- Talukdar, P., Kalita, S., Pandey, A., Dutta, U. and Singh, R. (2018). Effectiveness of different Starches as Drilling Fluid Additives in Non Damaging Drilling Fluid. *International Journal of Applied Engineering Research*, 13(16), 12469-12474.
- Tan, Y.H., Abdullah, M.O. and Nolasco-Hipolito, C. (2015). The potential of waste cooking oil-based biodiesel using heterogeneous catalyst derived from various calcined eggshells coupled with an emulsification technique: A review on the emission reduction and engine performance. *Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews*, 47, 589-603.
- Tijjani, M.A., Mohammed, G.T., Alkali, Y.T., Adamu, T.B. and Abdurahaman, F.I. (2017). Phytochemical analysis, analgesic and antipyretic properties of ethanolic leaf extract of Vernonia amygdalina Del. *Journal of Herbmed Pharmacology*, 6.
- Tmáková, L., Sekretár, S. and Schmidt, Š. (2016). Plant-derived surfactants as an alternative to synthetic surfactants: surface and antioxidant activities. *Chemical Papers*, 70(2), 188-196.
- Toghueo, R., Zabalgogeazcoa, I., de Aldana, B.V. and Boyom, F. (2017). Enzymatic activity of endophytic fungi from the medicinal plants Terminalia catappa, Terminalia mantaly and Cananga odorata. *South African Journal of Botany, 109*, 146-153.
- van Lierop, P., Lindquist, E., Sathyapala, S. and Franceschini, G. (2015). Global forest area disturbance from fire, insect pests, diseases and severe weather events. *Forest Ecology and Management*, 352, 78-88.
- Vij, T. and Prashar, Y. (2015). A review on medicinal properties of Carica papaya Linn. *Asian Pacific Journal of Tropical Disease*, *5*(1), 1-6.
- Wagle, V.B., Kulkarni, D.G. and Muthusamy, R. (2016). Water-based drilling fluid with cyclodextrin shale stabilizer. In: Google Patents.

- Werner, B., Myrseth, V. and Saasen, A. (2017). Viscoelastic properties of drilling fluids and their influence on cuttings transport. *Journal of Petroleum Science and Engineering*, 156, 845-851.
- Xiong, Z., Fu, F. and Li, X. (2019). Experimental investigation on laponite as ultra-hightemperature viscosifier of water-based drilling fluids. SN Applied Sciences, 1(11), 1374.
- Xu, C., You, Z., Kang, Y. and You, L. (2018). Stochastic modelling of particulate suspension transport for formation damage prediction in fractured tight reservoir. *Fuel*, 221, 476-490.
- Yuliastri, I.R., Rohaeti, E., Effendi, H. and Darusman, L.K. (2016). The use of Moringa oleifera seed powder as coagulant to improve the quality of wastewater and ground water. Paper presented at the IOP Conference Series: Earth and Environmental Science.
- Yunita, P., Irawan, S. and Kania, D. (2015). Evaluation of non-ionic and anionic surfactants as additives for water-based mud. *American Journal of Chemistry*, *5*, 52-55.
- Yunita, P., Irawan, S. and Kania, D. (2016). Optimization of water-based drilling fluid using non-ionic and anionic surfactant additives. *Proceedia engineering*, 148, 1184-1190.
- Zha, W. and Zhou, H. (2019). Fluid loss additive for water based drilling fluids with improved thermal stability. In: Google Patents.
- Zhang, W., Cao, B., Wang, D., Ma, T., Xia, H. and Yu, D. (2016). Influence of wastewater sludge treatment using combined peroxyacetic acid oxidation and inorganic coagulants re-flocculation on characteristics of extracellular polymeric substances (EPS). Water research, 88, 728-739.
- Zhu, L., Huang, Y., Wang, R. and Wang, J. (2015). A mathematical model of the motion of cutting particles in reverse circulation air drilling. *Applied Mathematics and Computation*, 256, 192-202.
- Zhuang, G., Zhang, Z., Fu, M., Ye, X. and Liao, L. (2015). Comparative study on the use of cationic–nonionic-organo-montmorillonite in oil-based drilling fluids. *Applied Clay Science*, *116*, 257-262.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1: Infrared spectral results of the crude extracts of the PL sample from different solvents.

	FT-IR (Wavenumber cm-1)												
No	3422.7	2924.1	1628.9	1384	1321.3	1248	1051.2	781.2	668.35	520.79			
extraction													
Hexane	3399.6	2925.1	2853.7	1736	1631.8	1384	1163.1	1076					
extract													
Chloroform	3430.5	2930.9	2851.8	1737.9	1629.9	1551.8	1454.4	1377	1166	1086.9	836.16		
extract													
Methanol	2929	2852.8	1736.9	1460.1	1384	1164.1	1066.7						
extract													

Appendix 2: Infrared spectral results of the crude extracts of the ML sample from different solvents.

Extract	FT-IR (Wave numbers cm ⁻¹)											
No	3380.3	2917.4	2849.9	1737.9	1384.9	1319.3	1243.1	1052	780.22			
extraction Hexane	3399.6	2922.2	2853.7	1737.9	1711.9	1453.4	1377.2	1244	1164.1	1098.5		
extract Chloroform	337.45	2919.3	2849.9	1736.9	1655.9	1632.8	1452.4	1384	1242.4	1160.2	1060.9	719
extract												

Extract	FT-IR (Wave numbers cm ⁻¹)											
No	2921.2	2850.8	1732.1	1614.5	1445.7	1384	1445.7	1384	1317.4	1036.8	780.22	
extraction												
Hexane	3450.7	2924.1	2851.8	1740.8	1458.2	1384						
extract												
Chloroform	2960.8	2920.3	2850.8	1736.9	1452.4							
extract												
Methanol	3408.3	2926.1	2853.7	1735	1617.3	1448.6	1384	1352	1184.3	1038.7	751.29	541.04
extract												

Appendix 3: Infrared spectral results of the crude extracts of the TL sample from different solvents.

Appendix 4: Infrared spectral results of the crude extracts of the BL sample from different solvents.

Extract	FT-IR (Wave numbers cm ⁻¹)												
No	3419.9	2919.3	1635.7	1384.9	1324.2	1253.8	1159.2	1053					
extraction													
Hexane	3419.9	2919.3	1635.7	1384.9	1324.2	1253.8	1159.2	1053					
extract													
Chloroform	3423.7	2922.2	2850.8	2513.3	1732.1	1732.1	1455.3	1164	1039.7	981.78			
extract													
Methanol	3401.5	2927	2855.7	1712.8	1605.8	1444.7	1350	1264	1163.1	1076.3	1044.5	89	
extract													



Appendix 5: pH of the formulated mud





different plant material



Appendix 7: Effect of temperature and 2% plant sample on PV of the drilling mud from different plant material



Appendix 8: Effect of temperature and 3% plant sample on PV of the drilling mud from different plant material


Appendix 9: Effect of temperature and 4% plant sample on PV of the drilling mud from different plant material

Appendix 10: Effect of aging on plastic viscosity









Appendix 12: Effect of temperature in 1% plant mud sample on YP

Appendix 13: Effect of temperature in 2 % plant mud sample on YP





Appendix 14: Effect of temperature in 3 % plant sample mud on YP

Appendix 15: Effect of temperature in 4 % plant sample mud on YP





Appendix 16: Effect of temperature in 1 % plant sample mud on 10 second gel strength







Appendix 18: Effect of temperature in 3 % plant sample mud at 10 second gel strength

Appendix 19: Effect of temperature in 4 % plant mud sample





Appendix 20: Effect of temperature in 1 % plant sample mud at 10 minutes gel strength



Appendix 21: Effect of temperature in 2 % plant sample mud at 10 minutes gel strength



Appendix 22: Effect of temperature in 3% plant sample mud at 10 minutes gel strength



Appendix 23: Effect of temperature in 4% plant mud sample at10 minutes gel strength

Appendix 24: Effect of concentration on fluid loss control





Appendix 25: Effect of concentration on fluid loss control

Appendix 26: Effect of aging on 10seconds and 10 minutes gel strength at 120°F of the drilling mud

